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(WHEREUPON, tliere were no witnesses called.)
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THE COURT: Okay, Ms. Barr.

MS. BARR: Your Honor, also in connection with
indidétment number 2012-GS-45-57. The remaining defendant
is Antwine Lamar Matthews. He was indicted for assault
arid battery with intent to kill two counts, criminal
conspiracy, attempted armed robbery. BAnd, Your Hono?, we
had also liKewise Served the defendant with LWOP notice.

Your Honor, we withdrawn that notice. The defendant

wishes to ente¥ a guilty plea to attempted armed robbery

© and’ crimirial conspiracy. Theé State has a recommendation

of a cap of 30 years.

THE CLERK: Place your left hand on the Bible
and raise your right hand. Do you solemnly sQear or
affirm to tell the truth, the whble truth, and nothing but
the truth. so help you God?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: I do.

THE COURT: Okay. And what would be the trigger

conviction for the LWOP notice? I guess, what's his

recoxrd?

MS. BARR: Attempted armed robbery and I believe
it's possession of a weapon during a violent crime, but I
know it's attempted armed xobbery.

THE COURT: Any relation to what Mr. Dawkins is
in prison for?

MS. BARR: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: So he's in prison too, Mrs. Shuler?

MRS. SHULER: That's correct; Your Honor:

THE COURT: He get. the same sentence as Mr.
Dawkins?

MS. BARR: No, gir. He is serving a 20 year
sentence. He received a 15 year sentence for-aftempted
armed robbery and a five yéar sentence for criminal
conspiracy and the trial judge granted'sentenceé
consecutive.

THE COURT: I may have missed the
recommendation, if any.

MS. BARR: Cap: of 30.

MRS. SHULER: 2And that sentence would be
concurrent with the sentence that he is serving now.

THE COURT: 1Is that correct?

MS. BARR: It is, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Concurrxent as of today, not-backwafd

in time?

MRS. SHULER: The datée of service of the
warrants was January 12th 2012.

MS. BARR: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mrs. Shuler, you represent Mr.

| Matthews?

MRS. SHULER: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do ydu think he understands the
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11 charge, the punishment -- the charges and the punishment

' 'that;he faces and all of his rights?

MRS.. SHULER: He does.

THE COURT: Do you believe he would be
convicted?

MRS. SHULER: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And have you had a chance to review
with him discovery and discuss any defenses and completely
g6 irito detail about his cases?

MRS. SHULER: We have. We dealt with that
extensively, Your Honor.

THE CQURT: All right. Your name is Antwine
Lamar Matthews?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE QQURT; You're here today evidently to plead
guilty to attempted armed robbery and criminal conspiracy.
How long have you been in prison?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Three years.

THE COURT: And do you have a high school
diploma by chance?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes; sir, I got a GED.

THE“COURTi Okay. And before you went to
prison, how were you employed?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: I was working. I had got a

job at Wal-Mart. I was working at Wal-mart before I got
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THE COURT: OKay: Do you take any medication?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS:: Ndf sir. |

THE COURT: Do you have any mental problems?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you have any history of drug or
alcohol addiction?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No,.sir.

THE COURT: Do you have any c¢ondition at all
that would keep you from being able to understand what you
are doing?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sic.

THE COURT: All right. You have an indictment
gpecifically the charges that you want to plead guilty to
are called attempted armed robbery and criminal

conspiracy. Count four is the attempted a¥m robbery and

- that count says that you and Jeffrey Leron Dawkinsg and

Charles A. Bishop on'or about December 22, 2008, did
attempt to rob Anthony Joe and Alan Rollerson while one or
more of you was armed with a pistol or another deadly
weapon. Do you understand that charge?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: That carries up to 20 years in
prison. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: A@d'Ivthought that you said earlier’
that criminal conspiracy was zero to five?
MS. BARR: I did, Judge. And I just mention

tkat to Mrs. Shuler. He's pleading guilty to the

attempted arm robbery and the criminal congpiracy. The

remaining charges are being dismissed. And, Judge, in
light of that, then I don't think it's necessary to do any
type of cap.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, do you understand that

samé date you and your co-defendants did conspire among

~ yourselves: to commit the coffense of arm robbery upon

- Anthony Joe and Alan Reollerson. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: That carries up to five yeaxrs, so
you're facing a maximum of 25. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. Attempted arm robbery under

‘our law is called a most serious offense. Bwvidently, you

have a conviction fox that which was arm robbery:; is that
right? ‘You beer convicted of arm robbery?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: The State isg withdrawing its reguest
that you be sentenced to life without parole. But in the

future, if you commit any other most serious offenses, do




io
11
12
13

14

15 |
16
17

18

is

20

21 |
22.
23 |}

24

25

you understand that you would again be facing life without

_ parole if the law in the future is the same as it is mow?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right, sir. There's no
recommendation, but you are facing a cap of 25 years that
could conceivably run corsecutively to what you're facing:
now; is that right? You understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

‘THE COURT: The recommendation you're making is
concurrent; is that correct?

MS. BARR: 1Is that going to change the plea?

MRS. SHULER: If it's concurrent.

MS. BARR: Beg the Court's indulgence.

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

(WHEREUPON, a pause in the proceedings.)

MRS. SHULER: Your Honor, if I may have a moment

~with my client?

THE: COURT: Sure,

(WHEREUPON, a pause in theé proceedings.)

THE COURT: If you want to step out, that's
fine.

MRS. SHULER: I think we're okay, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything else to report, Ms.

" Barr Oor Mrs. Shuler?

MRS. SHULER: Your Honor, no, he's pleaing
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THE COURT: Okay.

MRS. SHULER: Let me clarify that, without

recommendation as to the sentence ---

MS. BARR: Running concurfent or -consecutively.
MRS. SHULER: Right.

MS. BARR: Judge, we would have no objection if

- whatever sentence the Court imposes whether it be

consecutive or concurrent that the two. charges that he is

pleading guilty to that those sentences run together.

THE COURT: Okay. Is that clear, Mrs. Shuler

and Mr. Matthews?

MRS. SHULER: 1It's clear to me.

THE COURT: If you all want to step into a side

room and talk about it, that's fine. Would you like to do

that?
'DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

‘THE COURT: Okay, that's fine. 2&And we'll go off

the record for just a minute.

MRS. SHULER: Thank you, Your Honor. We can
Jjust step in the hallway.

(WHEREUPON, a pause in the proceedings.)

THE COURT: Mrs. Shuler, yvou and Mr. Matthews
square?

MRS. SHULER: We are, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Mr. Matthews, anything else you like
to talk to your lawyer about so far?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right. There is a indication
from the Solicitor that there is no sentencing
recommendation except for the fact the conspiracy>and the
attempted arm robbery would run concurrent; is that
correct, Mrs. Shuler?

MRS. SHULER: That's correct.

THE COURT: Is that right, Mr. Matthews?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS.: Yes, gir.

THE COURT: And do you understand completely the

charges that I‘'ve read off to you that you intend to plead

- guilty to?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: And you understand that the

attempted arm is a most serious offense as far as the life.

without patrol is concern?

MR. MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. You not on prébation or
parole; is that correct?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sir, I'm not.

THE COURT: All right. When you do plead
guilty, Mr. Matthews, you give up some rights that we have

under  the Constitution. First of all, you would give up
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your right to remain silent. Do you understand that,
right?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that you also have
the right to have a jury trial?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE CCQURT: A jury would be selected by you,
your attorney and by the prosecutor. And the jury would
sit in this box over here to your right and they would
cornsider evidence that i8 introduced. They would be told
that they could not find you guilty unless everyone of
them agreed that you were guilty beyond a reascnable
doubt., That's a very high burden for the State and you
and your lawyer have no burden to prove or disprove
anything. Do you understand thak?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Also, if you plead guilty, you give
up the right to look at and listen to and question

witnesses who might be called. For examplé, Mr. Joe and

Mr. Rollerson are here. They may speak today. And Ms.

Barr may summarize whdt they or other witnesses may have

to say. But for today's purposes, you do not have the

- opportunity to question them. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And the same goes for any witnesses
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of your own. You would give up the right to call

{| witnesses of your own. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, gir.

THE COURT: Now, do you understand those rights
completely?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: If you plead guilty, you're also
giving up your defenses and the fight to challenge the

admigsibility of any evidence the State claims to have.

| Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yeés,; sir.
THE COURT: Now, understanding all of those

rights, would you like to give up them -- give them up and

| plead guilty today?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir, I do.

THE' COURT: Are you guilty or not guilty of
attempted axrm robbery?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Guilty?

THE COURT: Are you guilty or not guilty of
eriminal conspiracy?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Guilty.

THE COURT: Are you truly guilty of both
offenses?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Were you in the wvehicle or with
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Mr. Dawkins and Mr. Bishop when the shooting took place?
DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir, I was:

THE COURT: All right. &nd were you part of the

. plan to do this?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Who was the: driver?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Bishop.

THE COURT: Mr. Bishop?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And who did the shooting?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Dawkins.

THE COURT: All right. Do you think you've had
enough time to make up your mind -about pleading guilty to
this?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir, I do.

THE COURT: And do you -~ has anyone promised

" you anything other than the recommendation that I noted a

moment ago?
‘DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sir,

THE COURT: Has anyone including your lawyer

- Used any pressure or threat or force to get you to plead

guilty?
DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sir.
THE COURT: Have you had enough time to decide?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir, I Hhave.
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THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the services
providéd to you by Mrs. Shuler?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Have you talk to her enough?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: I did.

THE COURT: Have you ﬁnderstqod all your
conversations?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Is there anything else you would
like to talk to her about right now?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you think shé's done everything
within reason to represent you properly?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir.

THE CCURT: Do you understand that you have ten

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, gir.
THE COURT: Ms. Barxr, just for the record, would
you go again over the facts?

MS. BARR: Yes, sir, Your Honor. Please the

' Court, the shooting happened on December the 22nd of 2008,

in the Greeleyville community of Williamsburg County.
Your Honor, the Defendant Antwine Lamar Matthews, the
Defeéndant Jeffrey Dawkins and Charles Bishop met earlier

in the day at the home of Mr. Bishop. There was a
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 conversation about going and getting a vehicle.

- Mx. Matthews had actually driven Mr. Dawkins over to

Mr. Bishop's home. They decided that they would get the

vehicle that belong to a young lady by the name of Diane

Singletary. She acknowledged during a statement that she

was using drugs back in 2008 and that she would

periodically loan her vehicle to Mr. Bishop in exchange
- for drugs. And she indicated on that night she did, that
- they were suppose to return her vehicle to her and give

~ her drugs and or money for the right to use the vehicle.

Judge, the State believes that it was necessary
to get the vehicle from somebody else because thése
defendants did not want their vehicles to be identifiable.

Mr. Matthews owned a white vehicle. I believe it was a

{ sedan. I can't remember the make and model. But in any

event, the three of them were according to the gtatements

of two of them were smoking marijuana that day. They

|| decided that they wanted to hit a lick as they call it or

commit a robbery. Mr. Dawkins had possession of the
firearm.

They -- all three of them go to this club or
pool hall in Greeleyville. They are essentially scoping
out various people to see whether or not they could have
the opportunity to: rob them. They came across the victims

in this case Mr. Joe and Mr. Rollerson. Mr.
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Rollerson just happen to be in town for the holidays.
Judge, this is daround Christmas time.

Mr. Rollerson and Mr. Joe then get into

Mr. Joe's vehicle headed back to the home of a relative

| house, which is less than half a mile. As they are

pulling into the lane, they notice a vehicle flash them.

{l Mr. Bishop was the driver of that vehicle: He -- and I
| believe everybody will concede that he was driving the

 vehicle that we believe Mr., Dawkins was in the front

passenger seat. We beliéve Mr. Matthéws was in the rear
of the vehicle. Mr. Dawkins instructed Mr. Bishop to
flash the lights on the vehicle, so they could get the
victims. to stop. Mr.' Dawkins get: out of the vehicle and
Mr. Matthews get out of the vehicle on the pretense of
asking the victims for directions back to Kingstree.

A few seconds_1ater’after.asking for directions

Mr. Dawkins thenh fires into the vehicle from the driver's

- seat striking Mr. Joe three times and striking his father

M¥. Rollerson two times. They then left the scene and

drove back to Mr. Bisghop's house. WMr. Dawkins and

- Mr. Matthews then leave Mr. Bishop at his house and they

go wherever they go. Mr. Bishop then takes the vehicle

back to Ms. Singletary.

Ms. Singletary remarked in hex statement that it

/I is unusual because when he came back, he didn't have any
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drugs of any money. And he appeared to be acting oddly as

she described it. She normally -- she said that. he would
normally bring the car back and would be in a cheerful
mood because he be high, I guess. But in any event, she
recalled that she had to then drive him back home and then
come back home. There was no gas in the car. Judge,
Mr. Dawkins, the co-defendant, gave: a statement to law
enforcement indicating those factg. Mr. Bishop gave a
statement to law enforcement implicating himself.
Although, he initially denied being the driver.

THE COURT: All right. And did Mxr. Matthews
give any statements?

MS. BARR: He did not.

THE COURT: All right. Now, is all that

. basically correct, Mr. Matthews, how the events happened

. about flashing ‘the lights, firing -- Mr. Dawkins firing

into thé vehicle?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: For the most part, it is,
but some of it not all the way right.

THE COURT: What's different?

DEFENDANT MATTHRWS: The: part about me getting
out like going up to the car. I got out the car, but I
got out way after he got out the car. The thing was
already taken place and I got out the car way after that.

THE COURT: All right. But the plan was to try
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- to rob them?

DEFENDANT MATTHEWS: Yes, sir, that was the
original plan, yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. I guess, T will
accept his plea. There's certainly substantial factual
basis for both pleas. BAnd he's représented by counsel
with whom he's satisfied. @And he's given his plea freely

and voluntary. Would Mr. Joe -- is it Mr. Rollerson or

1l Rollingson?

MR.. ROLLERSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: R-O-L-L-E-R-§-0=-N?

MR. ROLLERSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Ms. Barr, would either of these
gentlemen like to say anything to me?

MS. BARR: I think they would both, Judge.

THE COURT: Either one of you can stand and I'1l

 hear from_youranything-you like to tell me.

MS. BARR: State your full name.

MR. ROLLERSON: My name is Alan Rollerson.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. ROLLERSON: I reside in Orlande, Florida.
And I think December 22nd in '08, my wife and I probably

just got in Greeleyville probably about 3:30 that day and

- we were sitting around talking with my wom's. And after

that, my son came over and he wanteéd to go down to the
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pool room. So I told him I said, no, mnot tonight, not

 tonight about four or five times I said not tonight, but I

eventually went down that way. We stayed down there

‘ shooting pool and had a few beers. And on' the way back, I

told him T say why is this car stopping -- I mean flashing

} the lights. I said do- you know these people. But we were.

like maybe like two car lengths into my mow‘s driveway

when this happened. 8o he said, no;, I don't know them.

- So I said, well, don't stop. You never stop when someone

is flashing you down. .So by that time, one of the
deferidants came by the window wanting directions to
Kingstree: So by that tine, another child came around the
car and that"'s when the gunshotsg started.

I just wanted to say I had to go through ten
surgeries. I had -- got damaged nerve in. these two
fingers, .elbow problems. I had shoulder problems. Now,
they got me on disability. I got a tint in my leg

everything. So I really just wanted to say if the

" gentence is 25 years for one and 15 for the other,

. shouldn't it be 25 for all three? That's wy opinion. But
please the Court, I really apprediate your decision.
Thank you. Matter of act since, 2008, I had about three

years on my job left to work and I would have had 30

yeafsrbthat mess me up. So I'm on disability now. So

have to go back and forth to the doctors. This is
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something I didn't have to do heforé this happened.
THE COURT: What did you do for a living?
MR. ROLLERSON: I worked at Bright House

Networks. I was sweep technician and what I actually do

| ig keep networks -- internet working for 27 years.

‘THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Rollerson.
Mr. Joes; You're Anthony Joe?
MR. JOE: VYes,; sir. I1I'm Anthony Joe. Since,

this incident in the shooting, I have been out of work

four months, hospital bills, like $30,000 woxth of
 hospital bill that I'm still currently paying on. I agree

; with my father I think they should get 25 years each.

THE COURT: Where were you shot?

MR. JOE: My face, my hand and my shoulder.

THE COURT: And, you, Mr. Rollerson, on the left
gide?

MR. ROLLERSON: Through this shoulder and one

, right above the Heart.

‘THE COURT: All right. Anything else; Mr. Joe?

MR. JOE: No, that's it.

THE COURT: All right. What is Mr. Bishop's
record?

MS. BARR: Mr. Bishop was adjudicated delinguent
for burglary in the second degree as a juvenile in 2005,

He also has a conviction for ¢riminal conspiracy in 2007.
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He received youthful offender sentence not to exceed five

years, suspended to three years of probation. He was

|| convicted in August 0f 2010 of criminal dowestic violence.

And, Judge, since he was incarcerated in connection with

this case -- we&ll, prior to his arrest for this case, he
had an offense for receiving stolen goods more than two
thousand. And since he has been incarcerated, hé pled
guilty to that receiving stolen goods.

“THE COURT: And what year was that plea?

‘MS. BARR: That was dore in September of 2012.

$HE«COURT: How about My. Dawkins?

MS. BARR: Judge, he was convicted of attempted

arm robbery on May the 20th of 2010. It was a guilty

. that is what het'*s serving now in the South Carolina

- departiment of corrections. It locks like he had a

conviction for burglary in the second degree nonviolent

on. October 14th of 2008. He received five yeaxs suspended

to three years probation required to undergo substance
abuse -counseling.

Judge, I don't know that there's any way not to
get into some of the facts surrounding the second case
because the second case enable us to solve the first case.
Your Honor, about a week after this particular shooting

occurred in Greeleyville, Mr. Matthews and Mr. Dawkins go
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to a convenience store in Williamsbuxrg :County:. What's
intéresting -- I shouldn't say interesting, but what's
tragic about that situation is when they go intc the
store, it is Mr. Matthews who has the gun that we
believe -- the same gun that was used in connection with

this shooting. When they into the convenience store, the

|} owner is there. 1It"s late at night. They are driving

- Mr. Matthews' white vehicle. Immediately when they walk

in the store, they fire -~ Mr. Matthews fires a gun at the
owner. The gun -- the ownexr had the presence of mind to
drop as though he had been hit. He describes in the trial
of Mr. Matthews feeling the heat from the bullet pass his
ear. He then picks up his firearm located behind the
counter and ﬁé starts firing in response.

As a result of his firing, Mr. Matthews is then
struck. And he's later taken to the hospital. He

actually went to the -- Mr. Matthews sister -- Dawkins

|| went to the home of Mr. Bishop and Mr. Bishop was

concerned that Mr. Matthews was gone die. Mr. Matthews

: did not want anybody to call E.M.S. or 9-1-1, but

Mr. Bishop c¢alled 9-1-1. And he was taken I believe to a
hospital in Florence. . Aﬁd following his release from the
hospital, he was arrested for that particular crime.

We actually did not know at the time that these

individuals were involved in the shooting that happened in
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Greeleyville a week earlier. We did not 1eafn'that until
around 2010, 2011. But ésgentially, Judge, that's the tie
in ds it relates to second case.

THE COURT: How about Mr. Matthews' record?

MS. BARR: Mr. Matcthéws was convicted following
a trial on May 14th 2010, of attempted arm robbery,

criminal conspiracy. He was found not guilty of assault

- and battery with intent to kill and possession of a weapon

during the commission of a violent crime. Judge,
Mr. Matthews alsé hHad a record as a juvenile in which he.

was charged with burglary in the first degree. And I

believe he was committed to6 the department of juvenile

justice for an indeterminate period not to exceed his 21st

birthday.

THE COURT: And the ABIK and attempted arm
robbery are both violent, correct?

‘MS. BARR: Most serious, yes.

THE COURT: And violent?

MS: BARR: Yes, sir.

MRS. SHULER: Your Hdnor, Mr. Matthews is: not
pleading to the...

THE COURT: ABIK, but Mr. Dawking is?

MRS. SHULER: That's correct.

THE COURT: I want to check those blocks. ABIK

and attempted arm robbery are violent, correct?
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MS. BARR: Yes, sir; Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Bnything else from the State

at this point as far as séntencing is concerned before I

| hear from the défendants and their lawyers?

MS. BARR: I think Mr. Rollerson's wife would
like to speak.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. BARR: Judge, she drove them to the hospital
that night.

'THE COURT: Your name please, ma'am.

MRS. ROLLERSON: Good aftérncom. My name is

Cassandra Rollerson. I am the wife of Alan Rollerson. As

'of.right now, we been married for 25 and a half years. We

were herée for Christmas vacation like you've heard several

times. And when thig incident took place and they pulled

b‘to drive them to the hospital. My son standing on the

front porch bleeding, just dripping in blood. My daughtei
was suppose to go with them. She went back to put her
shoes on, so they left her. Thank God they left her or
she too would have been & victim. We went -- when Anthony
came to the door-aﬁd‘l’went out -- I said where is your
dad because I said are you okay, are you okay. He said,
yeah, I'm fine. They tried to shoot us. I said, no,

baby, they shot you. Are you okay? He said, yeah, I am.
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So I said where is your dad. Oh, he's in the truck. What

he's doing putting his shoes o6n, his jacket on. It was
20 degrees that night. He said, no, he got hit. So I zun
to the truck in a T-shirt and a pair of sweat pants to

check to my Husband, who is' leaning back in the truck

helding his chest with blood pouring between his fingers

from his heart. And he tells me I'm not gohne make it.

- I'm liKe, yes, you are because you're a fighter and so is
: your: wife. So I got my daughter and I told them we had to
remain calm. This is the first time I really broke down

' and -cried about it, but I had to drive them to the

hospital, which was in Manning, closest hospital was in
Manning. I knew where it was because we had to go there
for my daughter having an allergic reacticn before: So I
drive him to the hospital.

I jump in the truck and say look we got to get

Carolina everyone, but I got them therée. The truck
stalled on my way to the hospital and I saw the police
officers turn arcund to stop me. But I, too, I'm a police
officer and T knew I had to keep going to get them where
they needed to be to get treatment. So I drove them on up
to the hospital.

as I pulled in to the parking lot, I get Stopped

by five police officers at gun point;, which is fine. They
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. were doing their job. But they wondered what was wrong
' with me for driving so erratically. I pulled into the

| hospital parking lot and I told them I got two gunshot

victiimg from Greeleyville they rieed treatment. They said,
okay. I said I'll give you my license in a minute. I ran
into the héspital and got sowme help for them. They said
could you drive to the émergency entrance pledse, so now I
got to try to start the truck again go to the other
entrance which I did.. They got them out, treated them and
then they had to be air lifted two hours away to Columbia.
So we spent our Christmas holiday just in turmoil.’

And then since it has been very hard because he
hagn't been able to work. Hé is now on disability, but he
hasr't always been. 86 I've had to pick up extra jobs to
try to make ends meet, so we could survive. If this
incident had not taken place, we would not have depleted
all of our savings: We would be living -- I retired, but
I had to go back to work to and try to6 get some more money
in the household. It‘s been extra h&rd, but thank God we
have made it. We made it to this point and we just want
justice, that's it.

THE COURT: Thank you, matam.

MRS. ROLLERSON: Thank you.

THE COURT: Anyone else, Ms. Barr?

MS. BARR: That's all we have.
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THE COURT: Mr. Harvin, Mr. Carroway. I see Mr.
Carroway. Any cohsensus amongst all of you who wants to
speak first? And then if your clieénts would like to say
anything or anybody in their families?

MR. HARVIN: I will go first.

THE COURT: All right; Mr. Harvin. And you
represent Mr. Bishop?

MR. HARVIN: Yes, Your Honor.

‘THE COURT: And just maké it clear on the
record, we'll be on the record on all three defendants on
sentencing. Sentence for Mr. Dawkins and Mr. Bishop was
trial, but he's opted to plead guilty, so we'll go forward
now.

MR. HARVIN: All right. May it please the
Court, Your Honor, the facts that thé Solicitor's Office

has presented is somewhat I believe took place that day.

1| Just to give you our version of what took place from the

viewpoint .of my client, Mr, Charles Bishop. Mr. Bishop

was actually at home when this incident happened -- well,

|| before this incident, he was at home. Mr. Dawkins and Mr.

~ Matthews came over to his place of residence and they

asked him if he could get a vehicle for them. The
Solicitor's office is right my client got. a vehicle for

him, but at that time it was not under the auspices that
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there was going to be a criminal activity happening as it

il relates to that vehicle. At some point in time after they

had been out in the Greeleyville coﬁmﬁnity,-Mr; Dawkins
made the comment about hitting a lick which means slang

for arm robbery in this particular instance. My client

dnider the direction of Mr. Dawkins, yes, did flash

M#. Rollerson and then got out of the vehicle and shot up

" the vehicle several times.

Your Honor, Mr. Bishop in no way shape or form

does not believe his participation didn't play apart in

what we've heard is the tragic incident that happened to

Mr. Rollerson and Mr. Joe. He's very remorseful about

what happened to him. I just wanted. to point out the day

‘they didn't start with him planning to do that. In fact,

the day started out with him planning to be law abiding

and doing what he was required to do under the law because
he was actually handling some business related to his past
legal troubles. So he was not planniné in any way when he

woke. up to do that. The idea came about he played the

- part as to flashing the vehic¢le down.

Your Honor, Mr. Bishop is a married man. He has

three young boys that he raised. He also has one child of

his own that he raise. He is here today with his

moéher-in—law; his brother, his brother-in-law and also

his mother, Ms. Fulton. Ms. Fulton and Ms. Burgess would
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like to address the Court his mother-in-law and mother at

" the appropriate time. And I believe at the appropriate

time as well Mr. Bishop would like to address the Court as
it telates to this igsue as well.

One of the things that's interesting I think

- about Mr. Bishop's standpoint in this particular case is

that: when this happened he spoke to his best friend, who
is Mr. Melvin Segars. He told his best friend, hey, you

know, some crazy stuff went down. You may want to stay

- away from this particular environment. Well, it‘s that

conversation is the conversation that the investigator
actually received during the second trial of Mr. Matthews
and Mr. Dawkins. When that happened, the investigator
again spoke to Mr. Bishop. &nd Mr. Bishop gave a
statement that lead the police to the shooter in this
incident and also led the police to arrest Mr. Matthews as
well.

Admittedly, Your Honor, his first statement he
did nmot admit to driving the vehicle. But he does -- he
did give the police officer everything they needed to go
forward with findirng out who the shooter was, who the
person was that tried to kill these two individuals. And
who the person was that came up with the plan and
érchestrated the whole event. I believe that if

Mr. Bishop was a necessary party toe this activity that
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they were involved in, this second robbery they would have
called. him and brought him along on that. They used their
own vehlicle for the second robbery because Mr. Bishop
didn't want any parts of what they were doing because he
had seen what they were capable of.

In fact, Your Honor, it was but for Mr. Bishop's
call to the police related to the injuries that were

sustained by Mr. Matthews, his call to $-1-1 is actually

. what lead to. them being identified as it relates to the

second arm robbery of the liguor store and home of, I
think, Mr. Cooper at that time, if I'm not mistaken. You
know, he stands a little bit different in a situation then
the other individuals. Although, he understands the

impact of his participation has had on the lives of the

" Rollerson and Joe family. We would ask the Court to

consider these things alsé considéer his statements and
also the gtatements of his mother-in-law and his mother if
the Court would deem them opportunity to say something.
THE COURT: All right. They can talk to me from
where they are or céme on up whatever suits the deputies.
My. Matthews, stand off to the side just a
little bit.

MR. HARVIN: I think his mother-in-law is having

| some health difficulties at this: present moment.

THE COURT: Your name, ma'am.
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IDA BURGESS: My name is Ida Burgess. I reside
in Johnsonville, South Carolina.
THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

IDA BURGESS: &And I've known Charles from the.

E time he met my daughter and they got married. He has a

- daughter with her. They have three young sons -- step

sons. And he raised one of the younger sons from the age
of three months up until the present time. The time. that

I known him he got into church. And he's always talking

 with me and stuff. You know, I never knew that this stuff

went on I'm just shocked, you know, but Charles is a
pretty good young man and he's a mannerable young man.
And he listen when I talk to him and a lot of times he
comes to me and he talks to me. And I try tQ,deﬁsel him
in telling him to do what is right, you know. And I'm

thinking if you would have a second chance to rewind the

clock and it be better. And now that he's into the church

and he's more -- depending on God for his answers and
stuff in his situations know that behind every situation
there is consequences behind every situation and
everything you take. Thank you, ma'am.

THE COURT: Thank you, ma'am.

Anyone else from the family, Mr. Harvin?

MR. HARVIN: No, I think his mother is having

some issues.
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THE COURT:

Bishop?

Anything you want to tell me, Mr.

DEFENDANT BISHOP: Yes, sir. TIf it pleases the

Court, I'm not going to apologize to the victims for what

happened because I really didn't know that there was going

to be shots, so I just ask that they could forgive my foxr

participation in the crime.

THE COURT:

All right. Thank you, sir.

MR. HARVIN: AaAnd, Your Honor, just for the

record, he's been incarcerated without bond since

December 30th of 2011 with these charges pending.

THE COURT:
MS. BARR:
THE COURT:

MS. BARR:

Is that correct, Ms. Barr?
Yes, dgir.
December 30th 20117

I've got Decembex 29th.

MR. HARVIN: Twenty-ninth soriy I'm a day off.

THR COURT:

Okay. All right. Mr. Carroway.

MR. CARROWAY: Mr. Dawkins is 24 years old. I

don't know that he's been in any trouble before this

little two week period here and I met him back then. I

‘met his momma, met his daddy back then. They came by.

| and, you know, you get these guys and usually you think

you can loock at somebody -- we hdve seen people that you

can lock and tell that, you know, from the time they're

juveniles and you can just tell. I know good and well
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- where this kid is heéaded or whatever, but with these two
- quys -- and I know Charles too. I've known him for

 probably three or four years. Aand they really are what

they appear to be here.

And I mean, you know, when we came up, it was a
movie that had beén & made long time ago call Reefér
Madness about people going crazy when they smokeé marijuana

or whatever. Well, a lot of people smoke marijuana, but

don't commit ‘crimes. Of course, most people that dQ-§moke

marijuana. It's not a good thing. There other things,

~ do things like this. But what happens here is laying

around these days and watching these videos, which he's
told me that they did laying around smoking reefer,
watching these videos and playing these games on TV where,
you know, everybody is shooting everybody. And these
games you play games to see how many people you can kill.
And you got all of these. Some of these are army videos
and all these things. And then you have these movies
where and videos they watch.

And, of course, everybody kills everybody in
this. And if you ever notice in these movies, it use to
be in a motion picture code that any time someone
committed a crime that they had to be punished within the

movie. Of course, that doesn't happen any more because if
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you watch -- I use to watch the Wire on TV, which was a

Il good -- which was an excellent show, but nobody -- people
| use to kill everybody in that and nobody ever got caught

" or paid a price for that or whatever. B&nd I don't know

quite -- I do believe if these movies weren't out there
¢irculating all this and these drugs which, of course, he
went and rented these movies and watch these movies and
smoke this marijuana. And He and I talked about this. He
said I don't think any of this would have ever happened or
whatever here.

Point being really if you meet, you know, these
guys -- let gay you had a son or whatever and your son was
15 or 16. You would not have thought that, oh, I don't
want: you hanging around with these guys. If these guys
came to your house or~whatever-of'friends with your son

and played ball with your son and hung out on weekends

- with your son. You wouldn't until may be 17 or 18 you

wouldn't have thought that, oh, you got to stay away from

thege guys because look &dt Mr. Bishop. He's been ﬁhis way
every time I've have seen him for -- I've known him since

he was 14 or 15. I don't recall him ever being in any big
trouble then. He's not somebody that you would have told

your son to stay away from. Mr. Dawkins thie same way.

But clearly what happened here, you know, there are a lot

of steps you take here go from here to here, to here to
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here. That none of us would have taken these steps that
led to this particilar crime or whatever here.
What he tells me what happened here he was very

forth coming as to what happened is I didn't intend to

 shoot anybody or whatever, but I think when the other guy

came up to the car he said he notice the passenger in the
car going for -- going under the seéat or going into his

pants and doing something because I would imagine like the

- gentleman said when somebody else came up sdmebody cadme up

to the car, but somebody came up from behind or whatever.

| And it's possible that at that time he felt like something

is wrong here or whatever. And maybe he had something

under the seat or something which is, you know, they have

these days say all these athletes: and everybody getting

caught for having a gun or whatever.
Well, sometimes you can't call and wait for law
enforcement. Sometimes you need to have these guns

registered, but it's not a bad idea to have a gun

 sometimes or whatever. And, of course, if thatfs what he.

had and if that's what he Wwas going for or whatever,

that 's certainly, vou know, understandable. He never gaid

he saw a gun, but he said there was some activity by the
passenger in this car that led mé to believe ~-- and it
could have been this othér person came up. This is what

he tells me any way happened. and he said I back off at
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that point., I fired at that point and I was backing up

and beécause -- and I believe that because the purpose of
all this was to rob somebody: And I think these gentlemen
will say -- I mean, they didn't foliow‘through'with this.

It'g not like they said give us what you have empty your

Il pockets and nobody did anything or whatever and then

gomebody went. You know, he said he ran off. He said he

. was backing up and he fired these shots and he ran off is

what he said. They dida't stay there and try to complete
this robbery’or'whatever; 8o something that happened
there is why he fired or whatever.

Of course, under the law and every other thing,

Mr. Rollerson and Mr. Joe were obviously justified in what

they were doing in protecting themself or whatever. But

he said at that point, that's when the gun came out or
whatever. He -- but, of course, the gun would have come
out before then because it was his intention to rob them

and to hold the gun on them until they -- I diess, they

game or whatever that these fellows had some money or

whatever, so T think that's what happéned here.

We have seen certain situations where people
have described just cold-blooded situnations where somebody
intended t6 hurt somebody. And, you know, just shot

people for mo reason or whatever. Obviously, this was
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¢commigssion of a -- certainly intended to rob these men by

|| méaris of holding this gun on them, but it was not just

a -- well, I'mmad at these guys. I'm going to shoot

these guys or whatever. He didn't even know these

gentlemen. It wasn't like -- we've already got their

money and now we gone shoot these guys for no reason,
that's sort of why this happened. And he was a young
fellow at the time.

You know, what these gentlemen have gone through
and the family has gone through this is an America tragedy
right here. What has happened to them. This man in three
years he would have retired, had a good retirement at that
point. I would imagine what he said here is that all
that's off. I could not make it to those three years get
£o this requirement level and everything was off there.
And now all -=- not only his health problems but all of
these financial. And these guys didn't stop and think
about any of that stuff. But the point being I think Mr.
Dawking was around 17 or 18 when this happenéd-Or
whatever:,

THE COURT: According to. this he was 20.

MR. CARROWAY: He is 24 now. And this happened
in what year?

THE COURT: 1988 excuse me -- 2008.

MR. CARROWAY: 2008. So any way he also had a
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Il job at the time. He was working as, I believe,
* Mr. Bishop §aid he was working as & brick mason. I don't
know whether they worked for the same guy or whatever, but

| he did have a job at that time. But his mother did say he

was' hanging with these guys. And she had had some

| problems at the time but not anything like this. 2nd all

of this Happeried within a couple of weeks, Your Honoxr.

v_And I would ask that you consider all these things. He

understands that he'!s going to have to in addition to what
he paid for the other crime, he's going to have to pay
with more time here, Yoiuir Honor. But I think you get the

picture'cflexactly of how this occurred, Your Honor. And

~every time I ever talk to Mr. Dawkins, you khow, sometimes

you can. talk to people over at the jail or you know how

they talk among their friends and they show you a

completely different side when they come in here.

' Sometimes they aren't smart enough to hide what they

when I've talk to him. He's always very courteous. And

his statement to law enforcement I believe was dead on.

He didn't try to minimize what he did. He identified
" himself as the shooter. I think he told everyone's part

- hexre. And I would just ask that you donsider all these

things and be as lenient as you possibly can with
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‘Mr. Dawkins.

I think he has done well in prison he says. He

" has learned an awful lot. And we've talked how in the

 world did guy a that I might have let my son stay over to

his house or whatever; maybe even let him stay in my
house, what in the world led you to not;only one thing,
but then .angther thing here what in the world were you
thinking. And, of course, they never think they going to
have to use that gun when they rcb somebody. It is ot
like they went there to kill somebody or shoot somecne.

THE COURT: They almost did.

MR. CARROWAY: Well, they aldiost did, that's for
sure. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Dawkins, anything you want to
tell me?

DEFENDANT DAWKINS: Yes, sir. I want to
apologize to both of y'all and y'all family.

THE-COURT: Why did you start the shooting?

DEFENDANT DAWKINS: Like I said, when I came to

- the vehicle, you know, it was dark, you know what I'm

saying. I was high up on marijuana and popping ectasy,

you know what I'm saying. So when I -came to the vehicle

- aind ask the man fofr directions, you know, he hesitate to

like tell me what direction was to get back to my

location. And the guy on the passenger side look like he




40

10

1x

12

i3

14

15

16

17

18 |

19

20

21

22
23

24

25 |}

a0

 was fumbling around in the vehicle. I mean, like my

lawyer said I ain't seée no firearm or anything, but I jusn
shot off in the truck.

THE COURT: You panicked?

DEFENDANT DAWKINS: And ran.

THE COURT: All right. Anything else?

DEFENDANT DAWKINS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Anything else, Mr. Carraway?

MR. CARROWAY: ©Nothing; Your Homnor.

THE COURT: »Mrs; Shuler.

MRS, SHULER: Thank you, Your Homor. May it

please the Court. I'm here with Mr. Matthews. Your

Honor, you've heard basically what happened that night.

- Mr. Matthews informeéd me that Mr. Bishop got the thiCle

from Ms. Diane. And they went back to another
individual's house who I cannot recall the name-fight-now
where they sat and they did consume extensive amounts of
marijuana from what I understand. It was a house where
they went to quite frequently that there were no rules.
Prior to this occurring, my client is here today and
understands that what he did was wrong but, Your Honor, he
had no part whatsoever in the shooting. There was no
understanding on his part that that was going to happen,

that was not the plan; He had no intentions of that

occurring at all. The two incidents that his record is
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relatively minor. He's doing 15 and five for the crime
that happened -- the arm robbery of the store.

THE COURT: (Consecutive?

MRS. SHULER: It ig, they are.

THE COURT: Fifteen plus five?

MRS. SHULER: Yes, Your Honor. For an incident
that ‘occurred a week before. He was 18 at thé time this
was going on. He was young. Basically, did not know the
consequences of his actions at that time. He's a young

guy. I thirk that -- he's very intelligent. He obtained

- his GED while he was locked up. He always speaks to me

Vvery intelligently, wvery humble. And sincerely remorseful

for what happened that day. His mother is here. He has a
good support system back at home. He is one of five
childreén total.

Your Honor, twy client was =- played apart in

this. And I'm definitely not trying to minimize what

happened to these -- Mr. Rollerson and Mr. Joe as it was
very tragic and it was a genseless act. But by no means
was that his intention foxr that day for that to ocecur.

And tHe facts as the Solicitor stated for the prior armed

- robbery are not what he told me happened. Your Honor, he

is -- does not have a propensity for viclernce at all. I
don't think that you'll have a problem with him. I'm

asking Your Honor to consider a consecutive sentence --
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I'm sorry a concurrent sentence with what he's seérving
right now. And something that is fair in light of the

circumstances. And I think that he would like to express

his remotse to the Court and to the victims in this casé.

THE COURT: All right, Mr. Matthews.

MR. MATTHEWS: I like to apologize to. the

| victims. I'm not denying that an armed robbery was

1 planned, but I had no prior knowledge of y'all being shot.

I guess, that's why -- the gun went off. I didn't know

y'all was gone éver get shot. I ain't been the same ever

since this happéened. I wash't sleeping right at night

. either. It's always been on my conscicus. And if I

could, I would take it back. I was real young at the

time, I was nothing but 18 years old. 1 was on drugs that

night. I really wish it wouldn't have happened. T really

gave my life to God now, so I ask -God for forgiveness. 1

wish y'all could do the same for me.

MRS. SHULER: Your Honor, Ms. Plowden, Abigail

Plowden is his mother and she's here and would like to

. speak.

‘THE COURT: Ms. Plowden, you can come forward to

- the rail. Yes; ma'am.

MS. PLOWDEN: Your Honor, I first want to
apologiZe to the family. I'm very very sorry for your

tragic and what you been through. And just like Lawyer
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Shuler said Antwine is the second oldest of five children.

I have two boys and three girls and my o6ldest is a doctor.

~ And Antwihe was raised up in the church, in a good home.

His father is a contractor. And he was working with his
father at the time. How he came to knew his
co-defendants; I think they were working with his dad
during the time when all this happened. But I'm just
asking, Judge, everything has came forward. I mean, the
shooter alreddy said that he was the one had the gun. We
have. the driver. Antwine did say that he was in the car,
but he did not know what was going to take place. &And I

just ask for thHe mercy of the Court that you would have

mercy on him because he is doing a 20 year sentence for

another incident -- the: other incident that happened two

‘weeks -- I think it happened two weeks after this

incident. And I just ask for the mercy of the Court.

THE GOURT: All right, thank you, ma'am.

Anything else, Mrs. Shuler?

MRS. SHULER: = Nothing further, Your Homor.

THE COURT: Ms. Baxzr?

MS. BARR: Judge, Mr. Rollerson just wanted me
to advise the Court that during the course of;;he
shooting, he didn't move until after his son was shot.

And what he was doing was trying to move the seat back and

had he not wovéd the seat back he probably wouldn't be
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here today. So I just wahted to shed light on that.
Judge, I appreciate these defendants coming
forward acknowledging their guilt, not placing the victims

family through a long and drawn out trial having to relive

| that whole experience. But; Judge, I'll say that and I°1l

also say I heard Mr. Matthews say that his -- this has

"'been weighing on his conscious since it happeped, I hear

- that and then I recognize that a week later they go. out

and they do the same thing. And, Judge; there's no doubt

in my mind that had it not stopped that day with

: unfortunately -- well, I should say fortunately God choose

to spare his life butfhad that not happened where
Mr. Cooper returned fire and shot at Mr. Matthews, I think
that this conduct would have ¢ontinued to go on.

Judge, I would ask that Mr. Matthews correct me

if I'm wrong, but I think I remember prosecuting him as a

victim in that case reported how they came into her house
in the middle of the night after they cut the phone wire
to the phone cord in her house, so she couldn't call
9-1-1. It was disturbing facts. I don't necessarily view
this ¢rime as gimply youthful indiscretions:. I think that
if I had been involved in a situation where somebody was
shot, I think that would even if I didn't cowmit that

crime, it would weigh on my conscious. And I certainly
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would not be involved in another situation exactly one

» week later where somebody is shot at in another armed

robbery ig: attempted. So, Judge, I would just certainly

‘f ask the Court to keep all of those things in mind.

THE COURT: All right. When would -- whén were
Mr. Dawkins and Matthews served with their warrants?

MRE. SHULER: Mr. Matthéws was serwed.on January
the 12th of 2012.

THE COURT: When was Mr. Dawkins served with his

. warrants?

MS. BARR: Mr. Dawkins was served on January the
18th of 2012.

“THE COURT: All right. Anything else from Mr.
Rollerson or Mr. Joe?

MR. ROLLERSON: No, Your Honor.

CTHE COURT: Well, part of me wishes that Mr.
Rollerson and Mr. Joe had beén armed and put a stop to it
themselves. Part of me wishes that. But most of me --
all of me is glad that they weren't harmed any more
geriously than they were. I just don't understand how
young folks or even old f6lks can think that this is open
season on people. They are out there just canvasing the
neighborhood for victims. T think you think it's pretty
neat to say, well, let's go hit a lick makes you feel like

a big man. Well, you going to be in prison for a long
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time with a lot men bigger than you. But just does. not

make my sense to me how anybody can think with any common

senseé that this is a pretty neat thing to do. All right.

Mr. Bishop he's the only defendant where there is a

- recommendation, correct?

MS. BARR: Corréeét, Your ﬁonox,

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Bishop under the
count of attempted arm robbery, you are committed to the
state department of corrections for a period of 15 years.
Concurrent with that you are committed for a period of
five years criminal conspiracy. You'll get credit for the

time yow spent in jail for Mr. Rollerson. Mr. Joe's

- purpose the law requires that he get c¢redit for the time

that he has served because he has: been incarcergted since
he was arrested. I just want to make sure that you
understand that and that is from December 29th 2011 to
today. I will follow the State's recommendation.

Mr. Matthews and Mr. Dawkins these dre difficult
because you're young: I don't like putting people in
prigoén. It's riot Because I don't feel for the victims
it's because you're wasting your life. You wasted -- you
are going to waste more than half your life being in
prison because you want to smoke dope and go out and rob
people and shoot them because things don't happen

according to plan.
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Mr. Matthews I'm going to give: you 20 years on
the attempted a¥m robbery. Concurreént with that the five
years on the criminal conspiracy. But the 20 years will

be consecutive to the time you're: serving now. You can't

.  blame that on me. You did it. You did it.

Mr. Dawkins, I'm going to sentence you to five

. years crimindl corspiracy. This will be concurrént with

your. other pleas today and your current SCDC sentence.

" And he did all the shooting; is that right?

MS. BARR: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: How many shots were. fired does
arybody know?

MRS. ROLLERSON: Five or six, there was a stray
bullet.

THE COURT: Five oxr sixX, more than likely six.

" And Mr. Rollerson and Mr. Joe and Mrs. Rollerson, the

reason I hegitate is -- I just know -- I know it's tragic
for you all, but he's throwing away his life. I don't
feel sorry for him, but I just don't understand it how you

¢an just go out shooting pcople because the robbexy

doesn't go according to plan.

By the way, Mr. Matthews and Mr. Dawkins are
going to get credit on these pleas today. Mr. Dawkins

from: January 18th 2012 to the date of the plea. And

Mr. Matthews from January 12, 2012, to the date of the
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15

- plea.

Mr. Dawkins on your two assault and battéries

with intent to kill 20 years. They'll be concirrent with

one another, consecutive to that is 15 years on the

attempted arm robbery. Intention of the sentence is for

him to sexrve a 20 year sentence after hé finishes his

current senténce and then consecutive to that another is

| year sentence. Again, five years on the criminal

conspiracy concurrent with everything. I don't take any

joy in doing it. It just doesn't make me feel good, but,

Mr. Dawkins is getting off with half the time he would
have served if he getting everything censecutive.
Mr. Matthews I don't doubt that you regret what you did,
but you got to pay the piper. Thank you.

MS. BARR: Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. HARVIN: Thank you, Your Honor.

END OF REQUESTED HEARING
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CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA. )
_ ) )
COUNTY OF FLORENCE )

I, Keshia Reed, Court Reporter and Notary Public
in and for the Staté of South Carolina At Large, do hereby
certify that the: above-entitled cause was heard as
hereinafter set out; that I wds authorized to and did
transcribe the said proceedings; and that the foregoing
and annexed paged, numbeéred 1 throigh 49, inclusive,
constitute a true andﬁaccurate'traﬁscription'ofimy
steriographic report of the said cause taken during the
said hearing. In the Court of General Sessions for
Williamsburg County, South Carolina, on the 13th day of
May, 2013. |

I do further certify that I am neither of kin,
counsel nor interest to any party hereto. In witness.
whereof, I have hereunto affixed my signature this 25th

day of Jume 2014.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )} In the Court of Common Pleas
)

County of_\N\W\iamsour q ) =
Antwine Maithews 34T¥4 Y
Full name and prison number, if any, of opplicant. ) : - i""“
) APPLICATION FOR Ews
y. ) =2 e
) POST-CONVICTION RELIEF wo
Stede of South Caroline, ) =
Name-of Respondent ) B
)

TRUCTIONS - READ CARFFULLY

In order for this application to recejve consideration by the Court, it shall be in writing (legibly,
handwritten, or typewritten), signed by the applicant and verified (notarized), and it shall set forth in
concise form the answers to each applicable question. If necessary, applicant may fimish his answer to 2
particular question on the reverse side of the page or on an additional page. Applicant shall make it clear
to which question any such continued answer refers. -

Since every application must be swom to under oath; any false statement of a material fact therein
may serve as the basis of prosecition and conviction for perjury. Applicant should, therefore, exercise
care to assure that all answers are true and correct.

If the applicant is taken in forma pauperis, it shall include an affidavit (attached at the back of the
form) setting forth information which establishes that applicant will be umable to pay the fees and costs of

the proceedings. When the application is completed, the original shall be mailed to-the Clerk of Court for
the County in which applicant was convicted.

1. Place of detention. Lee_ C.or ec
Dishopwlle,, 5. ¢ 29010.

2. Name and location of Court which imposed sentence

3. The indictment number or numbers (if known) upon which and the offense or offenses for which
sentence was imposed:

(A _2012 -G5-45- 0057 Ps“emy’red Aymed Pobbe

(®) \

on whi i ' ' EC N i&s

4. The date upon which sentence was imposed and the terms of the sentence: A ' §§
@ ' | GRS

®) B UBRTLF PVECOPY
fr g -y !
(© D a2 M agpire’

CLERK OF GOURT
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Check whether a finding of guilty was made
(a) after a plea of guilty \/
(b) after a plea of not guilty

(c) after a plea of nolo contendere

Did you appeal from the judgment of conviction or the imposition of sentence? N o .

If you answered "yes" to (), list
(2) the name of each Court to which you appealed:
i.

ii.

fil.
{(b) the result in each such Court to which you appealed:
L

ii.

(c) the date of each such result:

(d) if known, citations of any written opinion or orders entered pursuant to such results:

i

ii.
If you answered “no” to (6), state your reasons for not so appealing:
@) 1 advised My o o doso A A,
(®)
(<)
State concisely the grounds on which you base your allegation that you are being held in custody

unlawfully:

@ _Toelecdive assistonce of inal counsel .
®) :
(©
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10.

State concisely and in the same order the facts which support each of the grounds setoutin = (9)
@ _&Mw_md_-w@ .

®) ‘:g.g&g(( Yo e, g;mgorggg ous ob}gﬁj'mﬁ.

(c) ;\WC A AQ So.

11.

12.

Prior to this application have you filed with respect to this conviction
(a) any petition in a State Court under South Carolina Law ?
No.

(b) any petitions in State or Federal Courts for habeas corpus or post-conviction relief?
No.

(c) any petitions in the United States Supremne Court for certiorari other than petitions, if any,
already specified in (7) __ o,

(d) any other petitions, motions or applications in this or any other Court?

No-

If you answered "yes" to ary part of (11), list with respect to each petition, motion or
application: :

(a) the specific nature thereof:
1.

ii.

ii.

iv.

(b) the name and location of the Court in which each was filed:

-
.

it

iv.

(c) the disposition thereof:
i

ii.

it

v,
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14.

15.

16.
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(d) the date of each such disposition:

|

il

iii.

iv.

(¢) if known, citations of any written opinions or orders entered pursuant to each such disposition:

il.

iv.

Has any ground set forth in (9) been previously presented to this or any other Court, State or Federal,
in any petition, motion or application which you have filed? _No .

If you answered “yes" to (13), identify:
(a) which grounds have been presented:
i

il

iii.
(b) the proceedings in which each ground was raised:
i.

it

iii.
If any ground set forth'in (9) has not previously been presented to any Court, State or Federal, set
forth the ground, and state concisely the reasons why such ground has not previously been presented:
@ _PCH js Pre _proper Corum,
®)
(©
Were you represented by an attorney at any time during the course of:
(a) your arraignment and plea? __)F S
(b) your trial, if any?
(c) your sentencing? ‘i‘C.S
(d) your appeal, if any, from the judgment of conviction or the imposition of sentence?

(¢) preparation, presentation or consideration of any petitions, motions, or application with respect to
this conviction, which you filed? :




17. If you answered "yes"® to onc or more parts of (16), list:
(a) the name and address of each attorney who represented you
i M. Aanda Shuler, P.0 irgstvee, $:C 29556

il

iii.

(b) the proceedings at which each such attorney represented you:

i Arraionment aod plea.

ii.

iii.

18. State clearly the relief you seek in filing this application.
A ﬂf_w 'l'f ‘ CL\ ) -

19. Are you now under sentence from any other court that you have not challenged?
No. '




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
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)
COUNTY OF Wl mﬁ\owq ))

VERIFICATION
. A\
I Pﬁ\}’mm( \Y\g\)’hw , being duly
sworn upon my oath, depose and say that I have subscribed to the foregoing application; that I know the
contents thereof; that it includes every ground known to me for vacating, setting aside or correcting the
conviction and sentence attacked in this application; and that the matters and allegations therein set forth
are true.
thm.l '{V\ﬁHM
Sworn to and subscribed before e 2
This_] _ dayof 2044 Zoz B
- L.S. hen 2T
Notary Public for South Carolina oii D
My Commission Expires ' l- g =P SNy _ <
APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PREPAYMENT
OF COSTS AND AFFIDAVIT
IN SUPPORT THEREOF
L D\(\}W\"Q M‘\ }“"Uv} , hereby apply for leave to
proceed in this action without prepayment of fees or costs or security therefor. In suppoxt of my
application I declare under penalty or perjury that the following facts are true:
(I)  1amthe applicant in this action and I believe I am entitled to redress.
@
therefor.

Becanse of my poverty I am unable to pay the costs of proceeding or give security

Sworn to and subscriked before me

This_ ) dayof 200
O S%kes o

Notary Public for South Carolina

My Commission Expires: _| ) =\{~p) 5~
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSBURG )  FOR THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Antwine Matthews, # 340876, ; 2014-CP-45-136
Applicant, ;
V. ; RETURN
State of South Carolina, ;
Respondent. i

The Respondent, making its Return to the application for post conviction relief (PCR)

filed March 11, 2014', would respectfully show this Court:
1

The Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections
pursuant to orders of commitment of the Williamsburg County Clerk of Court. The Applicant
was true bill indicted at the March 2012 term of the Williamsburg County Grand Jury for two
counts of assault and battery with intent to kill, criminal conspiracy, attempted armed robbery,
and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2012-GS-45-0057).
Amanda Shuler, Esquire represented Applicant. On May 13, 2013, Applicant pled guilty as
indicted before the Honorable Gebrge C. James, Jr. Judge James sentenced Applicant pursuant
to a recommendation by the State to twenty year term of impn’somnent for attempted armed
robbery and five year term of imprisonment for criminal conspiracy with all sentences running

concurrent from his previous guilty plea on January 12, 2012. Applicant did not appeal his

guilty plea or sentence.

! The application for Post-Conviction Relief was received by Respondent by July 11, 2014.

1o0f4



Attached herewith and incorporated herein are the records of the Williamsburg County
Clerk of Court regarding the subject conviction, the Applicant's records from the South Carolina
Department of Corrections, and the plea transcript. The Respondent reserves the right to amend
this Return upon receipt of any relevant materials.

IL
In his current Application, the Applicant alleges that he is being held in custody
unlawfully for the following reasons:
1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
a. Failure to prepare and investigate.
b. Failure to make contemporaneous objections.
c. Failure to file my appeal after I requested to do so.

Any claims not specifically enumerated in the PCR application or amendments will be
opposed by the State at an evidentiary hearing, and the State will seek summary dismissal of
vague or general claims at an evidentiary hearing. S.C. Code §17-27-50. All amendments should
be made well in advance of an evidentiary hearing by counsel of record. Rule 11, SCRCP.

118

The Respondent asserts the Applicant’s allegation that his attorney was ineffective is
without merit. The Respondent asserts the Applicant’s attorney rendered effective assistance
well within the standard of “reasonableness within professional norms” for a defense attomey.

Where ineffective assistance of coms_.el is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant
must prove ﬁ:at “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial
process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441,
442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

20f4
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The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation
within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume counsel
“rendered adequate assistance and made all significant décisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. The Applicant must
overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386
S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating aﬂegaﬁon§ of ineffective assistance of counsel.
First, the applicant must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney
performance is measured by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v.
State, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S,E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S. Ct. at
2065). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that
“there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the
proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A

reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of

trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Styickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

" The Respondent submits the Applicant cannot satisfy either requirement of the Strickland
v. Washington test. However, the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel probgbly raises
questions of fact that cannot be conclusively refuted by the record. The Respondent requests an
evidentiary hearing to fully resolve this issue. See Sharper v. State, 279 S.C. 264, 265, 305
S.E.2d 247, 248 (1983) (citing Norman v. State, 276 S.C. 278, 277 S.E.2d 707 (1981)).

3of4
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Each and every allegation contained within the application not hereinbefore either

cxpressly admitted, qualified or explained is hereby denied.

V.

WHEREFORE, having made its Return, the State requests that an evidentiary hearing be

held.

Soeptebex 1%, 2014.

4 of 4

Respectfully submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DANIEL GOURLEY

By: /

ATTORNEYS FOR msspoyrr
Office of the Attorney Gene
P.0.Box 11549

Columbia, SC 29211
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State of South Carolina )

County of Williamsburg )

Antwine Matthews,
Plaintiff,

-vs-—

State of South Carolina,

Defendant.

e e N e e e e e e e

BEFORE:
The Honorable Tanya A. Gee,

APPEARANCES:

Court of Common Pleas
Third Judicial Circuit
Case No. 2014-CP-45-00136

Transcript of Record

November 18, 2015
Sumter, South Carolina

Judge

Charles T. Brooks III, Esquire

Attorney for the Plaintiff

Daniel Gourley, Esquire
Attorney for the Defendant

Krystal J. Smith
Court Reporter
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WITNESS/DESCRIPTION

I NDEX

PAGE NUMBER

Antwine Matthews

Direct by the Court..

Direct by Mr. Brooks

Cross by Mr. Gourley
Amanda Shuler

Direct by Mr. Brooks

Cross by Mr. Gourley

Redirect by Mr. Broo
Applicant ResStS..
Arguments

Mr. BrooksS...

Mr. Gourley.......
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EXHIBTITS

(No Exhibits Presented)
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NOVEMBER 18, 2015

(WHEREAS this matter was scheduled for a post-conviction
relief hearing, the applicant appeared along with his
counsel of record. The State appeared through counsel of
record. The hearing began at 2:08 p.m.)

THE COURT: Good afternoon.

MR. GOURLEY: Good afternoon.

MR. BROOKS: Good afternoon.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Gourley?

MR. GOURLEY: Yes, Your Honor. This is going to be
Antwine Matthews versus the State of Soutm Carolina, Docket
Number 2014-CP-45-136. He's presently confined in the South
Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of
commitment of the Williamsburg County Clerk of Court.

He was true-bill indicted in the March 2012 term of the
Williamsburg County Grand Jury for two counts of assault and
battery with intent to kill, criminal conspiracy, attempted
armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the
commission of a violent crime. Ms. Shuler represented him.

On May 13th, 2013, he pled guilty as indicted before the
Honorable George C. James Jr. Judge James sentenced the
applicant pursuant to a recommendation by the State to a 20-
year term of imprisonment for attempted armed robbery and a
five-year term of imprisonment for criminal conspiracy, with

those sentences running concurrent to his previous conviction

—4-
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on Jénuary 12th, 2012.

He did not appeal his guilty plea or sentence. He filed
a timely PCR application on March 11th, 2014, alleging
ineffective assistance of counsel. The State filed its return
on September 18th, 2014, and he is represented in this matter
by Mr. Brooks.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Brooks?

MR. BROOKS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. BROOKS: May it please the Court.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. BROOKS: We would go ahead and call Mr. Matthews to
the stand.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Matthews, if you could, come
forward to be sworn in.

THE CLERK: Place your left hand on the Bible and raise
your right hand. State your name.

THE APPLICANT: Antwine Matthews.

THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear or affirm your
testimony to the Court shall be the truth, the whole truth,
énd nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, sir.

THE CLERK: Thank you.

THE COURT: And, Mr. Brooks, before you ask him

questions, I just want to ask him a couple of things before

75
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ANTWINE MATTHEWS - DIRECT BY THE COURT

you get started.

MR. BROOKS: Yes, ma'am.

THE CLERK: Please state your full name. Spell your last
name for the record.

THE APPLICANT: Antwine Lamar Matthews, M-a-t-t-h-e-w-s.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY THE COURT

THE COURT: Good afternoon, Mr. Matthews. Before we
start your hearing for your post-conviction relief action, I
want to make sure you understand what I can do today. If I
were to deny your motion for post-conviction relief, you would
simply go back to the Department of Corrections and serve out
the remainder of your 20-year sentence that you received.

If I were to grant your post-conviction relief action, I
can’t change the sentence you received and just impose a
different sentence. All I can do is allow you to start off
where you began prior to the guilty plea hearing.

So in this case, I understand that you were at some point
facing a life without parole sentence, but the State had
noticed you for life without parole and, prior to the guilty
plea, they had withdrawn that notification.

So when -- when you start back from the beginning, any
sort of deal that you received in exchange for your guilty
plea would also go away. Do you understand that?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. And understanding that, do you still

-6-
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ANTWINE MATTHEWS - DIRECT BY MR. BROOKS

wish to go forward with your post-conviction relief action?
THE APPLICANT: Yes, ma'am.
THE COURT: Okay. Thank you very much. Mr. Brooks, you
can take it from here.
MR. BROOKS: Thank you, Judge.
ANTWINE MATTHEWS, being first duly
sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

Q: Mr. Matthews --

A: Yes, sir.

Q: How are you doing today?

A: I'm all right.

Q: How old are you, man?

A: Twenty-five.

Q: Okay. Now, I want to give the judge a little background
about the situation. You actually had another case that you

had been tried on, convicted, and had been given a seﬁtence;
is that correct?

A: Yes, sir. I went to trial.

Q: Okay. So you were already serving some time when this
case developed. When I say developed, you came to court with
your lawyer, the solicitor, and went in front of Judge James;
is that right?

A: Yes, sir. How it happened was this case that I'm going

up for now -—- this has been developed since 2008 and one of my
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codefendants on the case that I got convicted on in trial, if
you read the motion of discovery, he had already told them
about this case, but they already knew about it. But they
postponed it to find me guilty in trial, to come back later on
and indict me on this case to come with the two-strike law
instead of bringing it all at one time. But they been -- they
already knew about the case since way back before I even went
to trial.

Q: I understand. So you were already serving some time as a

result of being found guilty in the case?

A: I was, yes, sir.

Q: How much time were you serving on that?

A: Twenty years.

Q: Okay. So you were in the process of serving a 20-year

sentence on the trial that you were being convicted of and
then you came to court for this guilty plea; is that correct?
Ac: Yes, that's correct.

Q: All right. I just wanted to paint a picture for the
judge as to, you know, how this came about because that's some
things that if nobody knew about that would not know; is that
right? Do you understand that?

Ac: Meaning?

Q: Nobody would know that you actually were serving the 20
years on another case and that's something that is important;

right?
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A: Right.

Q: Okay. Now, you ended up pleading guilty to this case.

Is that your understanding?

A: Yes, I pled guilty.

Q: Okay. Why did you end up pleading guilty?

A: I pled guilty because when me and my lawyer spoke -- when
me and Ms. Amanda Shuler spoke, she made it clear to me that
the deal we’re going to do is I'm going to talk to the
solicitor and I'm not going to let the State make a
recommendation.

They are not going to make a recommendation at all. I'm
going to make the only recommendation. And being that I'm
making the only recommendation, the judge is going to side
with you.and run the 20 years concurrent. That was the only
reason why I took\the plea deal.

Q: Okay. And that's what I'm talking about, Antwine. The
judge wouldn’t know that --

A: Okay.

Q: -- unless we told her and explained to her the background

of it. Do you understand that?

A: Correct.

Q: Okay. ©Now, that's what prompted you to take --
A: The 20 years, yeah.

Q: --- the deal in this case?

Ac: To even sign the plea deal at all, yes.
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Q: Okay. Now, was it your understanding you were getting a
concurrent sentence?
A: Yes, sir. I had already spoke with my lawyer and the
solicitor in privacy and my mom was standing right there. We
all spoke together and everyone already talked and it was —-- I
mean it had to be absurd for me to sign a plea deal for a
consecutive sentence of 20 years when I'm already serving. I
might as well go to trial if I'm going to take a consecutive
sentence of 20 years.
Q: Okay. Now, is it your understanding once you got to the
Department of Corrections that they’re now treating this as a
consecutive sentence?
Ac: I understood that when they -- like, when the judge --
when the judge said it.
Q: Wait. Hold on. Hold on. Okay. I think it's my
understanding and I think the Attorney General’s understanding
that Judge James gave you a concurrent sentence.

MR. BROOKS: 1Is that right, Daniel?

MR. GOURLEY: From reading the transcript, Charles, it
looks like some of these charges were consecutive.

MR. BROOKS: Okay.

MR. GOURLEY: Some were concurrent. But page 48 of the
transcript says he got 20 years on the assault and battery
with intent to kill. They'll be concurrent with one another.

Consecutive to that is 15 years for attempted armed robbery.

-10 -
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MR. BROOKS: Okay.
MR. GOURLEY: And five years for criminal conspiracy
concurrent.
BY MR. BROOKS:
Q: So that's the one you've got the problem with is the one
that’s now running consecutive. Am I right, Mr. Matthews?
A: Yes, sir.
Q: Okay. And that's what got you prompted to file a PCR as
related to this case?
A: Yes, sir.
Q: Okay. It's that you now got consecutive time. Was it
your understanding that all of this was supposed to be a
concurrent sentence?
A It was, yes, sir.
Q: Okay. And if you would have known that you were going to
get consecutive time, would you have pled guilty?
A: No, not at all.
Q: Okay. All right. Now, did you want to appeal your
guilty plea?
A: I wanted to appeal my guilty plea and right after --
right after I got found guilty, Ms. Shuler was standing right
beside me, turned around and looked me in the eyes, and said
do you wish for me to file your appeal? I said, of course.
She met with my mom immediately after the hearing. They

had a talk about the appeal and the procedures, and about six

-11 -




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

71
ANTWINE MATTHEWS - DIRECT BY MR. BROOKS

months in, I never got a letter for my appeal. So I mean, you
know, you only have one year limited to file your PCR; so I
began to get worried and I wrote Ms. Shuler a letter and she
told me I didn't file your direct appeal because you never
instructed me to do so.

Q: Okay. All right. Now -- all right. Now, Antwine, as
the judge indicated, you understand that if she grants your
post-conviction relief that you could go back and basically
look at life without parole? You understand that?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Okay. And you understand the risks that accompany that,

yet it’s still your desire to go forward? 1Is that your

understanding?
A: Yes, sir.
Q: Okay. ©Now, you thought you were getting concurrent time

as it relates to this plea, concurrent to the sentence you're
already serving?

A: Correct.

Q: If you had gotten concurrent time or everything would
have been concurrent, you'd be okay; is that correct?

Ac: Yes, sir. That was the original agreement. I would have
been fine.

Q: Okay. All right. Is there anything else in regards to
this guilty plea that you want to tell the judge that we

haven’t told her here this afternoon?

-12-
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A: Just basically I just -- I just got tricked. I got
tricked to sign a plea deal. I mean, like, I was coming out
and everything happened so fast. They brought me from prison,
took me straight to the county jail.

I never spoke with Ms. Shuler. Ms. Shuler came to see me
probably two weeks prior to the hearing and gave me a 300-
something page motion of discovery to review in that little
bit of time, to go over that, which it was a very strong case,
but she never seemed optimistic about anything. It was just
always, like, don't go. ©No, don't do it. Don't go forward
with it. Just you're going to get 1ife, you know, and I spoke
with her and the prosecutor myself and they told me, like, you
should just go ahead and tell us everything that happened and
we’ll get you a good deal worked out.

We’ll get you a good deal worked out or whatever and when
we got to the courtroom, I wouldn’t have signed the plea deal.
I wouldn’t have signed the plea deal because if I'm already
serving a 20-year sentence, why would I want to get a stack of
more time right on top of that? And I knew that it was a very
strong case, but being that she came and told me, okay, she's
-- she’s not going to make a recommendation. The State is
going to stay out of it. They are not going to make a
recommendation. I'm going to make a recommendation.

If you read the transcript, you'll see that the State --

I'm the only one the State didn't make a recommendation for

13-




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

73
ANTWINE MATTHEWS - DIRECT BY MR. BROOKS

and that's the reason why they didn't make the recommendation
because it was my understanding from the both of them that I
was going to get the 20 years ran concurrent being where Ms.

Shuler recommended to the judge to run the time concurrent.

Q: Okay.

A: So that's -- that’s the only reason why and I felt like
it wasn't fair at all. I felt like I was misled and deceived
to sign a plea deal and once he -- once he slammed the -- once

he slammed the thing down and gave me the time, there was
nothing else I could do about it.
Q: Except come here today and file your PCR?
A: And file my PCR because the appeal never got filed.
Q: Okay. Anything else?
A: No, sir. That's it.
Q: All right.

MR. BROOKS: Answer any questions of ﬁhe attorney
general.

THE COURT: Mr. Gourley?

MR. GOURLEY: Thank you, Judge.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. GOURLEY:

Q: Mr. Matthews, do you recall the judge explained to you
the sentences and whether they were going to be -- and that he
had the discretion to run them consecutive or concurrent?

A: He -- the judge just -- the judge just was making the

-14 -
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understanding that -- basically, the judge was just saying --

'like, telling me what all the charges I was facing and

everything --

Q: Right.

A: -— and how much time they could carry up to.

Q: Qkay.

A: But I don't think he said anything about it being

consecutive though until the end.

Q: All right. And during the guilty plea, there was a --
there was a little bit of confusion about what the solicitor
was offering and so on and so forth; right?

A: Yeah.

Q: Do you recall stepping aside and talking to your attorney

a couple different times?

A: Yeah, I recall that. Yes, sir. Yes, sir.
Q: And do you recall what those discussions were?
A: Oh, when we were stepping aside, she was basically

explaining to me, like, do you understand everything that
we’re saying?

Q: Yeah.

A: Because Ms. Barr was saying that we’re not putting -- I
think she was saying this is.a 25-year cap. That's all she
was saying. It's a 25-year cap, but she was, like, I'm not
making a recommendation and we all spoke in privacy already.

Me, Ms. Shuler, and Ms. Barr -- we all spoke in privacy

~15 -
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off of the record; so we already have an understanding. So I
know where this is coming from about not being a
recommendation. So you have to understand I'm already going

into this knowing that, okay, this is what I'm fixing to come

out of this with. I'm going to get this concurrent sentence
and it’s --

Q: Okay.

A: I'm -- we already had an understanding.

Q: Okay. So you had an understanding that the charges were
going to be -- or that the sentence was going to be 20 years

concurrent to your other charges that you were convicted on;

right?
Ac: Exactly.
Q: Okay. And at any point in time did you bring this to the

attention of the judge?

A: I got -- when I got inside the hearing, we basically --
you don't -- you really don't get too much a chance to talk at
a guilty plea. The judge does all the talking and your lawyer
does all the talking. They don't really give you a chance to
talk because you're already -- you're already thinking that
you're going to get this amount of time. So you really --
like, I really didn't see the need to be explaining too much.
Q: Okay. He did give you -- he did ask you a question
though of whether or not anybody was promising you or

threatening you anything in order to get you to plead; right?

-16 -
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Do you remember that?

A: He asked me that.

Q: Okay. And that would have been an opportunity to say,
hey, Judge, we had this conversation, me and Ms. Barr and Ms.
Shuler, about this 20-year sentence; right?

A But if I said it right then, it would get throwed out.
Q: Okay. So you just wanted to plead guilty to get the

benefit of the bargain?

A: No. I wanted -- I pleaded -- I pleaded guilty because,
like, my lawyer -- my lawyer didn't have any confidence at

all. I mean if I'm going in with a lawyer beside me who is

just telling me, like, don't do it, like, you're working for

me.

Q: Yeah.

A: So why would I go into a trial and you're telling me off
the top that you -- the only thing you keep saying is you're

going to catch life. You're not looking at the fact that
there's no evidence in this at all. You know, you just keep
telling me you're going to catch life, you're going to catch

life; so what can I do? My hands are tied behind my back.

Q: You didn't want to catch life?

A: Nobody wants to catch life.

Q: Absolutely not.

Q: Okay. Do you recall-the judge asking you if you were

satisfied with Ms. Shuler's representation?

17-
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A He asked me that, vyes, sir, and I was. I was satisfied
with her representation because up to that point I'm expecting
to get 20 years concurrent. I could have took the 20 years
concurrent to my current sentence that I'm serving.

Q: Okay. But again, you never brought that up to the

attention of the judge?

A: I didn't bring it up to the judge, no, sir.
Q: Ckay. And then you also wanted an appeal?
A: I did want an appeal, yes, sir.

Q: Okay. When did you ask Ms. Shuler to file an appeal?

A Not only did I ask her, Ms. Shuler asked me did I want an
appeal filed. As soon as I got found guilty, Ms. Shuler
actually grabbed my arm and said, Mr. Matthews, do you want me
to file an appeal? Because I mean after I got the consecutive
sentence, I dropped my head down. I mean I'm hurt because I
feel betrayed. So she's -- do you want me to file your
appeal? I didn't even know you could file an appeal after a
guilty plea hearing. I learned that from her.

Q: Right.

A: Being that she said that and my mom sat with her
personally and some more of my family members, and she
discussed with them how she was going to file the appeal and
proceed. Like, she was explaining the procedure to them and,
like I said, I'm six months in and I'm like -- I'm not -- I

know I only have a year; so I had to start getting on top of

18-
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it. I wrote her a letter and she wrote me this letter back
saying that you never asked that I file an appeal. And right

then and there, I knew it was Jjust all a plan from the

beginning.
Q: Okay. What do you mean all a plan?
A: Just basically to trick me to sign this -- to sign the

guilty plea hearing to get it all the way over with and
promise me this 20 years concurrent to my current sentence and
my appeal never got filed. And when I seen that my appeal
never got filed and she put on the letter that I never
recommended it, then I knew right then and there that no one
was for me in the beginning.

Q: Okay. And the State did make a recommendation of a 30-

year cap; right? I think you said 25. I think that Ms. Barr

said 30.

A: No. They never made a recommendation. I think on the --
I think on the -- like, on the plea hearing, like, it was
either you can -- I could have -- I could have tooken 30 years

with a cap --
Q: Uh-huh.
A: -— as a concurrent sentence or I either could have taken

the 20 years with no recommendation.

Q: No recommendation by the State?
A: With no recommendation by the State, right.
Q: Okay. And which one did you opt for?
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A: The 20 years with the no recommendation.
Q: So you pled guilty with the 20 years knowing that the

State wasn't going to make a recommendation?

A: Right. My lawyer instructed me to do just that.

Q: Ckay.

Ac: They told me that was how everything would play out.

Q: And you understand what no recommendation means?

A: Every time I ever been to court, I always understood that

when the State makes a recommendation, almost 90 percent of
the time the judge goes with it. So -- and like she explained
it to me, like, they're not going to make a recommendation.
I'm going to make a recommendation.

And she said in my experience with this, the judge is
going to go with my recommendation. We pulled out -- you can
see inside the transcript where the judge -- we had a brief
recess for her to pull me outside to explain this to me and my
mom that, okay, you don't have to worry about him getting a
consecutive sentence.

Q: Okay. So it was Ms. Shuler's opinion that you weren’t
going to receive a consecutive sentence?

A: Right.

Q: And that was the State’s recommendation that you receive
céncurrent sentences, which is based off of Ms. Shuler's
recommendation?

A: Me and her -- me and her -- like I told you, me and her
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and Ms. Barr talked in private. Ms. Shuler know what all we
talked about.

Q: Okay.

A: Why would -- 40 years is life.

Q: Absolutely.

A: It is life. I mean it's just a number for it.
Q: Okay.
A: It just makes it look better so I mean life —-- like, life

can’t scare a person who has 40 years.
Q: Right. Okay. Thank you, Mr. Matthews.

THE COURT: Any redirect, Mr. Brooks?

MR. BROOKS: No, ma'aﬁ.

THE COURT: All right. You may step down. Thank you.

THE APPLICANT: Yes, ma'am.

MR. BROOKS: We'd call Amanda Shuler.

THE CLERK: Place your left hand on the Bible and raise
your right hand, please. State your name.

THE WITNESS: Amanda Shuler.

THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear or affirm your
testimony to the Court shall be the truth, the whole trutﬁ,
and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE CLERK: Thank you, ma’am. Have a seat up there,
please. Pleése state your full name and spell your last name

for the record.
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THE WITNESS: Mary Amanda Harrelson Shuler, S-h-u-l-e-r.
MR. BROOKS: Thank you, Judge.
THE COURT: Go ahead.
AMANDA SHULER, being first duly
sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROOKS:

Q: Ms. Shuler, how are you today?
A: I'm doing good. How are you?
Q: I'm doing wonderful. You represented Mr. Matthews in

this matter?

A: I did.
Q: And is that through your capacity as a public defender?
A: That is correct. Yes. I would have been with the public

defender's office at that point.

Q: You're no longer with them now?

A: No.

Q: Okay. I was curious if you were.

A: I'm not.

Q: Okay.

A: No. I -- I resigned as the public defender for
Williamsburg County as of -- I believe it was September 30th of
this year. So it's rather fresh.

Q: Oh, okay. All right. Well, do you remember Mr.
Matthews?
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A I do. I remember him well.

Q: Okay. Now, he was already serving time when he was
brought to court. Is that your understanding?

A: He was.

Q: Okay. What kind of -- what was going on? What was the
kind of deal that was talked about?

A: Mr. Matthews was charged wit? armed robbery, I think
assault and battery with intent to kill, and criminal
conspiracy. He had -- was serving time on an armed robbery
from another establishment in Williamsburg County and, if I'm
not mistaken, there was a gun used in that case where somebody
was injured. I believe I have that case still in my mind.

And that -- that charge was very close in time to the
charge that T was appointed to represent him on in terms of
when they occurred. The charge that I had that I represented
him on, the armed robbery, the assault and battery with intent
to kill and criminal conspiracy, for some time went without
any leads. And once they found -- once they got leads on it
and some statements were taken from codefendants, things like
that, arrest warrants were issued for Mr. Matthews and he was

served with his arrest warrant.

Q: Okay.
Ac: Through -- I don't know if Mr. Matthews had been served
with his notice of life -- notice to seek life without parole

before I represented him or during my representation, but at
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some point in time he was served with a notice of intent to
seek life.
Q: This is after he had been convicted on the first set of

charges that you just mentioned?

A That's correct.
Q: Okay.
A: Because that would have been the prior that had given

rise to the notice. At some point in time, that was given to
him. I was appointed to represent him. We got discovery. We
went over the discovery and for quite some time the
codefendants were not going to plead guilty. It was going to
be they were going to go to trial.

So then with the codefendants’ statements, everybody was
going to have to be tried separately. Then we got notified
that Mr. Charles Bishop was going to plead. Mr. Bishop pled
and Mr. Dawkins pled as well. And so two of the codefendants
pled to the crime itself, which left Mr. Matthews.

At that point in time, before they were pleading guilty,
we had discussed trial strategies, how to handle it, what we
were going to do, because I believe that they were -- I don't
remember who they were going to try first, but nonetheless,
once the two codefendants pled guilty and were going to
testify against Mr. Matthews, he and I discussed it.

We discussed the possibility and the likelihood of him

being convicted and that his codefendants would be rewarded

94 -
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for their testimony most likely. And based upon that, he made
the decision that it would be best to go ahead and plead
guilty. |

~ Initially, there was a recommendation of a 30-year cap,
which should have been the 25 on the attempted armed robbery
and then five years on the criminal conspiracy. In order to
get the 30 years, they would have had to run those
consecutively to get to the cap of 30. At some point in time,
Ms. Barr said there's not -- it's not necessary to have a cap
of 30 years and the recommendation at that point was that it
was going to be a concurrent sentence of 30 years.

I don't exactly know what happened in Ms. Barr'; mind,
but at that point I think she realized that there would -- he
was not receiving any additional punishment because of him
serving the 20 years on the other charge and so she said we're
not going to make any recommendation, which is what we had
talked about initially.' So we went --

Q: Is that kind of where the confusion came in?

A: It did. The confusion came in then and I had a side
conversation with Mr. Matthews and then we went outside and
had a discussion again. At that point in time, there was no
recommendation. We were just pleading straight up and
whatever the judge gave him we were going to have to live

with.

Q: Okay. And then that's when you went through with a
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guilty plea?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Do you acknowledge not filing any appeal of the
guilty pleav?

A: We discussed filing of an appeal. I did not file an
appeal, but we had discussed that. I discussed that, you
know, a guilty plea -- an appeal on a guilty plea would be
whether the judge abused his discretion in sentencing, and
typically nothing happens from there. So I was not asked to
file a guilt -- or file an appeal by him or by his mother. So
if I'm not asked to file an appeal, especially on a guilty

plea, then I don't file an appeal.

Q: Okay. Were you his other lawyer on the previous case?
A: I was not.

Q: You were not? Okay.

A: I believe he was represented by Charles David Barr.

Q: Ckay. Do you recall how long you had been on the case

before you ended up entering a guilty plea?

A: I don't.

Q: Okay.

A: I could probably look.

Q: Even if you could give me a ballpark. Was it a month

before? Had you been on it for six months before? I'm really
looking to see how long a time you had really been on the case

in order to adequately communicate with him.
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A: I started with the Public Defender's Office in September
of 2012 and I believe that I got his file whenever I started
with the Public Defender's Office in September of 2012.
Q: Okay. So that would have been about maybe eight months
from September of 2012 all the way to May of 2013 when his --
when his guilty plea was done?
A: About nine months.
Q: About nine months? Okay.
MR. BROOKS: I beg the Court's indulgence, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Uh-huh.
BY MR. BROOKS:
Q: Ms. Shuler, do you -- would it be fair to say you first
sent a letter in January of 2013 to him making him aware of
your representation?
A: If -—- I don't have a complete copy of my file. 1It's on
my computer, but if that's whenever he received a letter from
me, then it's probable then that it was January.
Q: Okay.
MR. BROOKS: No other guestions, Judge.
THE COURT: All right. Mr. Gourley?
MR. GOURLEY: Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. GOURLEY:
Q: Ms. Shuler, do you recall approximately how many times

you met with Mr. Matthews prior to.his plea? Just roughly.
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A Four to five times probably.
Q: Okay. And you said y'all had previously discussed trial

strategy and defenses prior to the codefendants pleading

guilty?
A: That's correct.
Q: Okay. And at that point in time when the codefendants

pled guilty, y’all had a discussion and Mr. Matthews

determined it was in his best interest to plead guilty at that

point?
A: That's right.
Q: Okay. And you said that the State initially offered a

30-year cap-?

A: That's --

Q: Or recommended a 30-year cap?

A: That's right.

Q: And then when did that recommendation change?

A: Whenever that was the maximum sentence that -- I don't

think that the solicitor realized that that was the maximum
amount of time that he could get.

Q: Yeah.

A: And so whenever she realized it was the maximum amount of
time that he could get, I think that's when she said in light
of that -- the transcript says in light of that I don't think
it's necessary to impose a cap.

Q: Okay. And at that point, it evolved into Ms. Barr not

-28 -
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AMANDA SHULER - CROSS BY MR. GOURLEY

offering any kind of recommendation on the sentence at all?

A: I believe so, yes.

Q: Okay. And you said you took Mr. Matthews outside and had
a discussion about that?

A: Yes.

Q: And did you explain to Mr. Matthews what it meant when
the State is saying no recommendation at all?

A: Yes. And we, of course, went over that and that if there
was a recommendation, the judge could go with that
recommendation or not go with that recommendation and that he
could imbose a sentence that was consecutive to the sentence
that he was serving. So we went over all of that.

Q: Okay. And you never promised Mr. Matthews or led him to
believe that he was going to be receiving a 20-year concurrent
sentence to his previous charges?

A: No. And in fact, Mr. Matthews stated that I made -- or I
would make the recommendation and that the judge would --
usually always went with my recommendation and I -- there's =--
I did not say that. I never would've said that. As a defense
lawyer, I would not say that the judge always goes with my

recommendation or nearly always goes with my recommendation.

Q: Is it typical that you make recommendations?

A: No.

Q: Okay.

A: In very few cases does that happen, with guilty pleas
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anyway.
Q: All right.

MR. GOURLEY: That's all the questions I have. Thank
you, Ms. Shuler.

THE COURT: Any redirect?

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROOKS:

Q: Ms. Shuler, you’re saying you never told him that the
judge would go along with your recommendation?

A: I would not have said that.

Q: Okay.

MR. BROOKS: No other questions, judge.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. You may step down.

MR. BROOKS: Judge, that's the applicant's case.

THE COURT: All right. Anything from the State?

MR. GOURLEY: ©No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I have one question for the attorneys, just
for a point of clarification, and you can each answer this.
He was -- at some point, he was facing on these particular
charges for which he was pleading guilty a maximum of 25
years, not 30 years. Twenty years for the attempted armed
robbery and five years for the conspiracy; correct?

MR. GOURLEY: He initially was -- he was initially
LWOP’ ed.

MR. BROOKS: Okay.
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MR. GOURLEY: Or noticed for LWOP because of his most
serious charges.

THE COURT: Correct. And he was initially noticed‘for
life without parole. The State withdrew that and then he was
pleading to attempted armed robbery, which carries a maximum
of 20 years, and then conspiracy, which carries a maximum of
five years.

So he's facing 25 years and so when the State initially
recommended a cap of 30, that would have included some
consecutive time to the sentence he was already serving or was
that just confusion on the State’s part or is that completely
up for interpretation? I’d like to hear your thoughts on
that.

MR. BROOKS: I figured that's where -- like Attorney
Shuler said, there was confusion there.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BROOKS: I think that's where the -- I think that's
where she alluded that was kind of the source of the
confusion.

MR. GOURLEY: And to that point, Judge, I think he was
also indicted for assault and battery with intent to kill, two
cqunts. So maybe that's where we’re getting some additional
time outside of the attempted armed robbery and the criminal
conspiracy. I know they dropped those charges pursuant to the

plea, but maybe that was the confusion on the part of the
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solicitor in regards to the 30-year sentence.

MR. BROOKS: And again, I think that's where the extra
time come in order to make up the 30 instead of what they were
talking aboﬁt, but as part of his plea, you know;wthat was
nolle prossed. »

MR. GOURLEY: And on page 7, Judge, of the transcript --
and I'm sure you’ve read it -- the Court does advise Mr.
Matthews that he's facing a maximum of 25 years.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Any closing statements?

MR. BROOKS: Judge, from the applicant's perspective, our
position is that post-conviction relief should be granted. We
feel this was not a truly voluntary plea. My client indicates
that, first of all, at the conclusion of it he wanted the
appeal. He did not get that request and we feel that he
should have been given an appeal.

But as to the substance of the matter, since there was a
lot of confusion, it would obviously show that is not really
understanding and not truly voluntarily entering his guilty
plea. And as such, we would respectfully request the Court to
grant him his post-conviction relief and grant him a new
trial.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. Mr. Gourley?

MR. GOURLEY: Your Honor, in regard to the appeal issue,
Ms. Shuler I believe credibly testified that Mr. Matthews did

not request her to file an appeal and that, if he had
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requested her to file an appeal, she would ha&e filed one.

As regards to the sentencing, I think the judge properly
advised him. Regardless of potential confusion, the judge
properly advised him of the sentences thaf he was facing.
Furthermore, Ms. Shuler made it clear that she under no
circumstances advised Mr. Matthews that he was going to be
receiving a 20-year sentence concurrent to his prior charges.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. GOURLEY: For those reasons, we would ask that you
deny the PCR application.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. I have reviewed this trial
transcript -- or, well, guiity'plea transcript I should call
it -- carefully. 1I've also listened carefully to the
testimony before me today and the application and return, and
I'm ready to rule.

I find that the applicant has failed to carry his burden
of proving deficient performance on the part of Ms. Shuler.

Ms. Shuler credibly testified that she advised Mr.
Matthews that the sentence he would receive. could run
consecutive to the sentence he was already serving. She also
credibly testified that she did not file an appeal because she
was never asked to file an appeal on behalf of Mr. Matthews.

I would also point out that on page 8 of the guilty plea
transcript, Judge James informed the applicant that he was

facing 25 years that could run consecutively to what you're

-33 -




~No

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

93

facing now. Page 9 of the guilty plea transcript, there was
again reinforcement that there was no recommendation as to the
sentence running consecutive or concurrently.

And there was also an opportunity for the break at which
point again I find that Ms. Shuler credibly testified today
that she explained to her client that he could be facing a
sentence that ran consecutive to the sentence he was already
serving.

Mr. Gourley, can you prepare an order for my signature?

MR. GOURLEY: Yes, Your Honor. I will do so.

THE COURT: All right. Thirty days, please.

MR. GOURLEY: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Thank you.

(WHEREUPON, the proceedings ended at 2:44 p.m.)

--—- END REQUESTED TRANSCRIPT ---

-34 -



94

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

State of South Carolina )
) Certificate

County of Florence )

I, the undersigned, Krystal J. Smith, Notary Public and
Official Court Reporter for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit of
the State of South Carolina, do hereby certify that the
foregoing pages, numbered 1 through 34 constitute a true,
accurate, and complete Transcript of Record of all the
proceedings had and evidence introduced in the hearing of the
above captioned case, relative to appeal, in the Court of
Common Pleas for Williamsburg County, South Carolina, on the
18th day of November, 2015.

I do further certify that I am neither of kin, counsel,

nor interest to any party hereto.

s/ Krystal J. Smith

Court Reporter

Florence, South Carolina

April 28, 2016
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INTHE'COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSBURG ) FORTHE THIRD JUDICIAL. CIRCUIT
L . ) 3
Asltwine Matihews, # 340876, ) 2014-CP-45-136 o B AN
Applicant, ) el o
: /':.-, i (ﬁ
) ?})7"\';"
v ) "’Sm' K .
) ORDER OF DISMISSAL ©¢¢. 4
U’ A ‘l‘. J\
e ) (2 A
Stateof South Carolina, ) -7
)
Respondent. )
. )

This matter'comes before the: Court by way of a-post-conviction relief (PCR) applicatiosn

12015; at the Sumter County Courthouse. Applicant was present at the hearing and was
‘represented by Chiirles T. Brooks, IlI, Esquire. Respondest ‘was represerited by Assistant
Attorney General Daniel Gourley of theé:South Carolina Attoriey General's Office.
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

‘The tecords before this Coun indicate The Applicant is presently ‘confined in the South
Carolina Department of -Corrections: pursuant to orders of commitment -of the. Williamsburg;
' County Clerk: of Court. The Applicant was true. bill indicted. at the March 2012 term of the
Will‘ia'n-isliurg 'Coun'ty Grand Jury for two counts of assault and battery with intent to kil
‘criminal conspiracy, attémpted. armed. robbery, and posséssion of a ‘weéapon during the
commission of a violent crime (2012:GS-45-0057).  Amanda Shuler, Esquire represented.
_Applicant. On May 13, 2013, Applicant pled guilty-as indicted before the Honorable George C.
James, Jr. Judge James sentenced Applicant pursuant toa recommendation. by the State t0 2

twenty-year term of imprisonment [or atlempied armed robbery and five-year term of
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imprisonment for criminal conspiracy, with both scatcnces running consccutively from his
previous guilty plea on January 12, 2012. Applicant did not appeal his guilty plea or sentence.

ALLEGATIONS

4

In his current Application, Applicant allcges that he is being held in custody unlawfully

for the following reasons:
1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
a. Failure to prepare and investigate.
b. Failure 10 make contemporaneous objeclions.
c. Failure to file an appeal.
SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY PRESENTED
At the evidentiary hearing, Applicant testified on his own behalf and presented testimony

from Mary Amanda Shuler, Esquirc. (hereinafter “Plea Counsel™). This Court also had before it

a copy of the Williamsburg County Clerk of Court records, Applicant’s South Carolina

" -Departmeiit 6f Correction fecords, and thié PCR application.

Applicant testified thal he met with Plea Counsel four or five times prior to his guilty
plea. Applicant recalled discussing various defenses with Plea Counsel and giving Plea Counsel
various leads and witnesses to investigate on his -behﬁlf. Applicant sjated that he had recently
been convicted of separate charges prior to cntering his guilty plea. Applicant explained that this
case was pending since 2008, but the solicitor’s office pursued the other charges first. Applicant
staled-that he received twenty years on the other charges and that the solicitor's office was going
to “strike him out” due to the other charges

Applicant stated Plca Counscl adviscd him that he could plead guilty to twenty years with
no rcct;mmendalion or get a recommendation of a thirty year cap. Applicant stated that when the

plea judge ran his sentence consecutively to his prior conviction, Applicant requested Plea

Pagt_:Zof?H’)qa'

Counsel to file an appeal.
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Following Applicant’s testimony, Plea Counsel was called o testify. Plea Counsel stated
that she was appointed to represent Applicant and that she reviewed discovery with Applicant.
According 10 Plea Counsel, Applicant’s co-defendants, Charles A. Bishop and Jeffrey Lcron
Dawkins, Jr., were going (o plead guilty and she was conccrned that they would testify against
Applicant if he proceeded to trial. Plea Counsel stated that therc was a strong possibility of
Applicant getting convicted at trial and his co-defendants receiving a reduction for their
cooperation.

Plea Counsel stated that the plea negotiations were fluid. Specifically, Plea Counsel
stated there was initially a recommendation of a thirty-year cap because the solicitor erroneously
believed that attempted armed robbery carried thirty years instead of iwenty years. Plea Counsel
stated that the solicitor realizcd her mistake and elecled to muake no recommendation. Plea
Counsel stated that she spoke with Applicant about the changes in the plea deal and that
Applicant wanted to continue with the plea. Plea Counsel staled that she advised Applicant that
the judge had full discretion in seatencing. Plea Counse! ftestified that she never promiscd
Applicant that he would receive a certain sentence, and after the plea, Applicant never requested
that she file an appeal. |

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This Court has had the opportunity to review the record in its entirety and has heard the
testimony at the post-conviction relief hearing. This Court has further bad the opportunity to
observe the witnesses prescnted at the hearing, closely pass upon their credibility and weigh their
testimony accordingly. Set forth below are the relevant findings of facts and conclusions of law

as required pursuant to S.C. Codc Ann. §17-27-80 (1985).

Page?aoffj’ﬁ%
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INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant has the burden of proving the allegations
in the application. Rule 71.1(¢), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).
Where ineffective assistance of counscl is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must
prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined thc proper functioning of thc adversarial process
that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland y. Washington,
466 U.S. 668, (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441,334 S.E.2d 813(1985).

The proper mcasure of performance is whether the attormey provided representation
within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel
rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The applicant must
(1989). ,

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of. incffeciive assistance of
counsel. First, the Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deﬁcient. Under this
prong, attorney performance is measured by its "rcasonableness under professional norms.”.
Cherry, 300 S.C: at 117, 385 S:E2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsels deficient
performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that,
but for counsel's unprofessional ertors, the result of the procecding would have been different.”
Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E2d at 625. With respect to guilty Trial Counscl, the
Applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s alleged errors,

he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart , 474

Page 4 of 7 %

U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985).




ALLEGATIONS

L. Ineffective assistance of counsel regarding plea negotiations.

Applicant first alleges that he received ineffective assistance of counsel in the plea
negotiation process. This Court disagrees.

This Court finds Plea Counsel credibly testified that she advised Applicant of the proper
plea recommendations and never promised Applicant that the judge would seatence him to a
specific sentence. This Court notes the plea transcript refutes Applicant’s allegation that he was
misadvised of the plea negotiations. Spccifically, the plea judge advised Applicant that the only
recommendation made was to run his attempted armed robbery charge and criminal conspiracy
charge concurrently with each other. (T. 9-10). The plea judge staled that there was no
recommendation as to whether these charges should run concurrently or conseculively to
Applicant’s previous convictions. (T. 9-10). The plea transcript revcals Applicant's complete
understanding of the plea recommcndations. This Court finds Applicant has failed to present any
credible evidence or arguments thal Plea Counsel was deficient or that Applicant was prejudiced
by Plea Counsel’s alleged dcficient performunce.

2. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file an appeal

Applicant next alleges that Plea Counsel was ineffective for failing 1o file a notice of
appeal. This argument has no merit.

“[Clounsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with thc defendant about an
appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for
example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this panticular defendant

reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” Roc v. Flores-Ortega,

Page 5 of 73’4%'
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528 U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ci. 1029, 1036, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). This Court finds Plea
Counsel credibly testified that Applicant did not request her to file an appeal following his guilty
plea.
ALL OTHER ALLEGATIONS

As 10 any and all allegations that were raised in the application or at the hearing ia this
matter and not specifically addresséd in this Order, this Court finds the Applicant failed to
present any testimony, argument, or evidence at the hearing regarding such allegations.
Accordingly, this Court finds the Applicant has abandoned any such allegations. .

CONCLUSION

Based on all the foregoing, this Court finds that the Applicant has not established any
constitutional violntio.m‘i or deprivations that would require this court to grant his application.
Therefore, this application for post-conviction relief must be denied and dismissed with
prejudice.‘ o

This Court notes that Applicant must file and serve a notice of appeal within thirty days
from the receipt by counsel of writlen notice of entry of judgment to sccure the appropriate
appellate review. See Rule 203, SCACR. Pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453 (1991), an
Applicant has a right to an appellate counsel's_ assistance in seeking review of the denial of post-
conviction relief. Rule 71.1(g), SCRCP, provides that if the applicant wishes to seek appellate
review, post-conviction relief counsel must serve and file a Notice of Appeal on the Applicant’s
behalf. Applicant is directed to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 243 for appropriate
procedurcs for appeal.

ITIS THERE'FORE ORDERED:

1. That the Application for Post-Conviction Relief must be denicd and

dismissed with prejudice; and
Page 6 of 761 a' ?
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2. The Applicant must be remanded to the custady of the Respondent.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED this 20 day of January, 2015.

Columbia, South Carolina

S AC

TANYA A. GFR
Prasiding J
Third Judicial Circuit
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT FOR

) ASSAULT AND BA;TTERY WITH INTENT TO KILL (2
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSBURG) COUNTS), CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY, ATTEMPTED

ARMED ROBBERY, 'AND POSSESSION OF A
WEAPON DURING THE COMMISSION OF A VIOLENT
CRIME

At a Court of General Sessions convened on Marcﬁ 1, 2012, the Grand Jurors of

WILLIAMSBURG County present upon their oatﬁ:
COUNT ONE - ASSAULT AND BATTERY WITH INTENT TO KILL

That the defendants, Jeffrey Leron Dawkins, Jr., Antwine L. Matthews, and
Charles A. Bishop, did with malice aforethought in Williamsburg County on or about
December 22, 2008 commit an unlawful act of violent injury upon the victim, Anthony
Joe, by shooting the said victim and causing him to sustain serious bodily injuries, in
violation of Section 16-03-0620, S. C. Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

COUNT TWO - ASSAULT AND BATTERY WITH INTENT TO KILL

That the defendants, Jeffrey Leron Dawkins, Jr., Antwine L. Matthews, and
Charles A. Bishop, did with malice aforethought in Williamsburg County on or about
December 22, 2008 commit an unlawful act of violent injury upon the victim, Allan
Rollerson, by shooting the said victim and causing him to sustain serious bodily injuries,
in violation of Section 16-03-0620, S. C. Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

COUNT THREE — CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY

That the defendants, Jeffrey Leron Dawkins, Jr., Antwine L. Matthews, and
Charles A. Bishop, did in Williamsburg County on or about December 22, 2008 join
together, agree, confederate and conspire among themselves to commit the criminal
offense of robbery upon the victims, Anthony Joe and Allan Rollerson, and one or more
of the defendants did knowingly commit an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy, in
violation of Section 16-17-0410, S. C. Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

COUNT FOUR - ATTEMPTED ARMED ROBBERY

", Thét the defendants, Jeffrey Leron Dawkins, Jr., Antwine L. Matthews, and
Charles A. Bishop, did in Williamsburg County on or about December 22, 2008 while
one or more of them were armed with 38 pistol or other deadly weapon, attemptdodake)
and carry away cash or other valuables from the persons and in the pt&Séfce)ofiihied .
victinis, anthony Joe and Allan Rollerson, in violation of Section 16-11-93%0! B\C. '0laivo
of Laws, 1976, as amended. COLSHIRY 08342
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ATTACHED TO AND BECOMING PART OF THE ORIGINAL INDICTMENT FOR 2012-GS-45-0057
WITH THE AFORESAID NAMES OF JEFFREY LERON DAWKINS, JR., ANTINE L. MATTHEWS, AND

CHARLES ALLEN BISHOP, JR. SHOWN THEREON:

COUNT FIVE — POSSESSION OF A FIREARM DURING THE COMMISSION OF A
VIOLENT CRIME

That the defendants, Jeffrey Leron Dawkins, Jr. and Antwine L. Matthews, did in
Williamsburg County on or about December 22, 2008 possess or visibly display a
firearm or what appeared to be a firearm during the commission of a violent crime in
violation of Section 16-23-0490, S. C. Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.
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Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such

case ma,de-émd provided.
Solicitor
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS 105
COUNTY OF Williamsburg %
STATE VS. ) INDICTMENT/CASE#:  2012-GS-45-0057
Antwine Lamar Matthews ) ANVE:  .M686723
AKA: ‘ )  Dateof Offense: _12/22/2008
Race: 2 Sex: M Age: 21 ) S.C.Code § :_16-17-0410
DOB: 05-07-1990  SS#: { )  CDRCode#: _ 0049
Address: © 3 McDow Drive — —— )
City,State,£1p: ~ Rock Hill, SC 29732 o
DLE: 100846054 SID#; ) SENTENCE SHEET
*CDL Yes[[] No[[] CMV Yes[] No[] HazmatYes{ ] No[]
In dxsposmon of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [] CONVICTED OF or /X}PLEADS
o ('riminal Conspiracy,
inviolationof § [ /'7 -t/ 0 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 004 9
gNON-VIOLENT (] VIOLENT [JSERIOUS  [JMOSTSERIOUS  [JMandatory GPS(CSC "[]8§17-25-45
w/minor Ist or Lewd Act) '

The charge is: s Indicted, [TJLesser Included Offense, [“]Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. - (defendant's initials)
The pleai |sg Wlthout Negohatlons or Recommendation, [ Negotiated Sentgnc Recommerndation by the State,

U Barm, quberly \Y SC Bar# Defendant ttorney for Defendant SC Bar#
WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the tate Department of Corrections, [] County Detention Center,
for a determinate term of 5 R 1 @ [ under the Youtliful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of § ; provided that upon the service of ‘ - days/months/years and/or payment
of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for
months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference, ) 2

ONCURRENT or [ CONSECUTIVE to sentence ong du V% 2T hraa [bel & '4' by ’% ol
¢ Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied B<w C.

¥ the State Department of Corrections. F /1. f( o']c}z/a o_’ f&g
{] The Defendant is to be placed on the Central RegfStry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant’to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a perseon convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition, .

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:.
(JRESTITUTION: {T] Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [ ordered  PTUP
Total: § plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED 0]
(] Setby SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
— May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling ]
*Fine:
Fine: . 3 Random Drug/Alcohol testing 0
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-211(A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge) s100 § pmts. of $ beginning
§ 14-1-211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) S100 " § . ) -
§ 56-5-2995 (DUL Assossment) 512 S th _ paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 7§ er —— S TR O0PY
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 § £ GERITTFLE ‘JD_ TRUB CLFL
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ A , ,/' L4 / /
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) S50 " § \’}’7""“’ “ ’ s /’j
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 °§ SHARORM W, T "’m & “R“
§ 56-5-2942()) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea  $ ] Appointed PD or appomtea»éther 6L{nf?:p oy
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $5 3 § 47.12 requires $5G0,b& HAHG Gitrie (‘uU St
3%1to County (if paid in installments) $ during probation.
TOTAL $ 7
Presiding Judge ’5»’%
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk Judge Code: 7 =2 Y4=

Court Reporter: Sentence Date: ;/’v 4( % ;'[;?,

SCCA/217 (03/2011)
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STATﬁ @&OUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF Williamsburg )
STATE VS. ) INDICTMENT/CASE#: _ 2012-GS-45-0057
Antwine Lamar Matthews g A/WE  M686727

AKA: ) Date of Offense: _12/22/2008
Race: 2 Sex: M Age: 21 y SC Code § :_16-11-0330(B)
DOB: 05-07-1990 SS#:’lg N L i ) CDR Code #: 0026

Address: | McDow Drive ~ )

City,State,Zip:~ Rock Hill, SC 29732 . o

DL# 100846054 SID#: % SENTENCE SHEET

*CDL Yes[ ] No[] CMV Yes[] No[] Hazmat Yes[ ] No[]

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [] CONVICTED OF or E{PLEADS

10 _Attemptrd Avned B

1 J
in violation of  § -l- 330(,{3-7 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # a
[ NON-VIOLENT VIOLENT [JSERIOUS fﬂ.MOST SERIOUS [ }Mandatory GPS(CSC {1§17-25-45
w/minor Ist or Lewd Act)

The charge is: As Indicted, [ ]Lesser Included Offense, [JDefendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initials)
The plea is; [ yWithout Negotiations or Recommendation, [] Negotiated Sentence * Recommendation by the State.

Tz 17

SC Bar#

Attohiey for Defendant

ATLES 0, > ﬁzzj?g__
\Bérr Kimbéily V' | ~ SC Bar# Defendant

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is conunited to the
Wén

State Department of Covrections,  { ] County Detention Center, .

for a determinate term o [ under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years

and/or to pay afinc of § : pxovtded that upon the service of days/months/years and/or paymeént

of § "; plus costs-and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for '

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard copditions of

probation, which are incorporated, by reference. Cemnciwr i can:’( 1 /7/&6\

CONCURRENT or CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: Cmsective du cernnF SDC
The Defendant is to be given credit fo me served ursuant to S.C. Code § 24- 13 40 to be calcu]ated and applied M“oq—
the State Department of Corrections. gﬁ AR=IR f
[T} The Defendant is to be placed on the Central RegiStry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to C)éode §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is untawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic, Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or anumunition. )

SPECIAL CONDITIONS: -
[JRESTITUTION: (] Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [Jordered  PTUP
Total: § y plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED 0
[ Set by SCDPPPS ~ Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
— May serve W/E begining
i{e.c]pxent: Substance Abuse Counseling O
Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcoho} testing 0
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-211(A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge) $100 $ pmts. of § . beginning
§14-1-211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 $ . ,
§ 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) s12 3 $ , paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 °°§ Other: A ORRIPTIIED RIS (O
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 % ( L7 i
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 3 i fonpr o A 7 ( ’ff g
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 g SHARON W 8PAC :
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee} $50 $ GLERK OfF Oty
8§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ca § D Appointed PDigtaphojnted: pther counssly 1375y
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) ‘$5 $ § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3% to County  (if paid in installments) $ during probation
$

TOTAL

Presiding Judge 7 é % /

Judge Code: / = Ty =l

Sentence Date:

Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk |
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